
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Ian Senior, 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

24 February 2015 
 
To: Chairman – Councillor Lynda Harford 
 Vice-Chairman – Councillor Brian Burling 
 All Members of the Planning Committee - Councillors David Bard, 

Anna Bradnam, Pippa Corney, Kevin Cuffley, Tumi Hawkins, Caroline Hunt, 
Sebastian Kindersley, David McCraith, Deborah Roberts, Tim Scott, Ben Shelton, 
Robert Turner and Aidan Van de Weyer 

Quorum: 4 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of PLANNING COMMITTEE, which will be held in the 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, FIRST FLOOR at South Cambridgeshire Hall on  
WEDNESDAY, 4 MARCH 2015 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, subcommittees, and 
outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of the substitution in advance of 
the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute once the meeting has started.  Council 
Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
JEAN HUNTER 
Chief Executive 
 

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the 
community, access to its agendas and minutes.  We try to take all 
circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, 

please let us know, and we will do what we can to help you. 
 

 
AGENDA 

 PAGES 
 PUBLIC SEATING AND SPEAKING 
 Public seating is available both in the Council Chamber (First Floor) and the Public 
Gallery / Balcony (Second Floor). Those not on the Committee but wishing to speak at 
the meeting should first read the Public Speaking Protocol (revised May 2013) 
attached to the electronic version of the agenda on the Council’s website. 
   

 PROCEDURAL ITEMS   
 
1. Apologies   
 Councillors Dr. Tumi Hawkins and Robert Turner have sent 

Apologies. To receive apologies for absence from other committee 
members. 

 

   
2. Declarations of Interest  1 - 2 
 

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 
Cambourne Business Park 
Cambourne 
Cambridge 
CB23 6EA 
t: 03450 450 500 
f: 01954 713149 
www.scambs.gov.uk 



3. Minutes of Previous Meeting   
 To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the meeting held 

on 4 February 2015 as a correct record. The minutes are available 
on the Council’s website. 

 

   
 PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER DECISION ITEMS   
 
4. S/1344/14/FL - Great Eversden (Site known as OSP, 148 Church 

Street) 
 3 - 22 

 
5. S/2216/14/FL - Steeple Morden (48 Station Road)  23 - 30 
 
6. S/2046/14/FL - Gamlingay (Land at 12 Potton Road)  31 - 38 
 
7. S/1504/13/FL - Caxton (Ermine Street)  39 - 50 
 
8. S/2186/14/FL  - Caldecote (115 Highfields Road)  51 - 58 
 
9. S/2646/14/FL - Girton (65 Cambridge Road)  59 - 66 
 
10. S/3038/14/FL - Great Abington (23 South Road)  67 - 76 
 
11. S/2268/14/PO West Wratting (Camgrain)  77 - 88 
 
12. Changes to Planning Obligations for Smaller Residential 

Developments 
 89 - 92 

 
 INFORMATION ITEMS   
 
13. Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action  93 - 96 
 
14. Enforcement Report  97 - 100 
 
 OTHER REPORT   
 
15. Smithy Fen Cottenham (5 to 11 Orchard Drive and 14 to 18 

Water Lane) -  Proposed Variation of 2006 Injunction in Light of 
May 2014 Appeal Outcome (App/W0530/A/12/2181439 arising 
from Refusal S/0041/12/Ful) 

 101 - 174 

 
 

OUR LONG-TERM VISION 
 
South Cambridgeshire will continue to be the best place to live, work and study in the country. 
Our district will demonstrate impressive and sustainable economic growth. Our residents will 
have a superb quality of life in an exceptionally beautiful, rural and green environment. 
 
 

OUR VALUES 
 

We will demonstrate our corporate values in all our actions. These are: 
• Working Together 
• Integrity 
• Dynamism 
• Innovation 



 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 
 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices  
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 
When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, 
and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the 
Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 
500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 
In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; 
from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the 
door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

• Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 
emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 
hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

• Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 
do so. 

 
First Aid 
If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 
We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. 
We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and 
we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are 
disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in 
the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter 
and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing 
aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 
Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 
We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography 
at Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings 
at the meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, 
please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 
You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other 
similar item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If 
there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call 
for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 
Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is 
allowed to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of 
those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 
Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 
 



   
 

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
The law allows Councils to consider a limited range of issues in private session without members of the Press and 
public being present.  Typically, such issues relate to personal details, financial and business affairs, legal privilege 
and so on.  In every case, the public interest in excluding the Press and Public from the meeting room must outweigh 
the public interest in having the information disclosed to them.  The following statement will be proposed, seconded 
and voted upon.   
 
"I propose that the Press and public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following item 
number(s) ….. in accordance with Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that, if 
present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) ….. of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.” 
 
If exempt (confidential) information has been provided as part of the agenda, the Press and public will not be able to 
view it.  There will be an explanation on the website however as to why the information is exempt.   

Notes 
 
(1) Some development control matters in this Agenda where the periods of consultation and representation 

may not have quite expired are reported to Committee to save time in the decision making process. 
Decisions on these applications will only be made at the end of the consultation periods after taking into 
account all material representations made within the full consultation period. The final decisions may be 
delegated to the Corporate Manager (Planning and Sustainable Communities). 

 
(2) The Council considers every planning application on its merits and in the context of national, regional and 

local planning policy. As part of the Council's customer service standards, Councillors and officers aim to 
put customers first, deliver outstanding service and provide easy access to services and information. At all 
times, we will treat customers with respect and will be polite, patient and honest. The Council is also 
committed to treat everyone fairly and justly, and to promote equality. This applies to all residents and 
customers, planning applicants and those people against whom the Council is taking, or proposing to take, 
planning enforcement action.  More details can be found on the Council's website under 'Council and 
Democracy'. 



Form devised: 29 October 2012 

Planning Committee 
 

Declarations of Interest 
  
1. Disclosable pecuniary interests (“DPI”)  
A  DPI is where a committee member or his/her spouse or partner has any kind of beneficial interest in 
the land under consideration at the meeting. 
 
 2.  Non-disclosable pecuniary interests 
These are interests that are pecuniary involving a  personal financial benefit or detriment but do not 
come within the definition of a DPI.  An example would be where a member of their family/close friend 
(who is not their spouse or partner) has such an interest. 
 
3. Non-pecuniary interests 
Where the interest is not one which involves any personal financial benefit or detriment to the Councillor 
but arises out of a close connection with someone or some  body /association.  An example would be 
membership of a sports committee/ membership of another council which is involved in the matter under 
consideration. 
 
I have the following interest(s) (* delete where inapplicable) as follows: 
 
Agenda 

no. 
Application Ref. Village Interest 

type 
Nature of Interest 

 

S/  

 
 
 
1*  2*  3* 
 
 
 

 

 

S/  

 
 
 
1*  2*  3* 
 
 
 

 

 

S/  

 
 
 
1*  2*  3* 
 
 
 

 

 
 
Address/ L ocation of land where applicable 
 
 
Signature: ………………………………………… 
 
Name  …………………………………………     Date    ………………………….. 
  
  

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Page 2

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 14 January 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/1344/14/FL 
  
Parish(es): Great Eversden  
  
Proposal: Proposed development of 10 affordable 

dwellings 
  
Site address: Site known as OSP 148, Church Street, 

Great Eversden 
  
Applicant(s): Accent Nene Ltd 
  
Recommendation: Refuse 
  
Key material considerations: Principle of development/Green Belt; 

Landscape character; Heritage Assets; 
Highway Safety; Ecology; Archaeology; 
and Other considerations 

  
Committee Site Visit: Yes  
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: Andrew Fillmore 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The application site is owned by South 

Cambridgeshire District Council   
  
Date by which decision due: 6th March 2015  
 

 
 Planning History 
  

1. S/1044/11 - 10 affordable dwellings. Approved by SCDC, after which the decision 
was subject to a successful application for ‘judicial review’ on grounds the Local 
Planning Authority failed in its duty to undertake a ‘Screening Opinion’ as required 
under the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations. The decision was 
quashed and the application later withdrawn. 
    

2. S/3202/88/F - 16 flats and garages. Refused, dismissed at 
appeal and by the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State concluded the need 
for the affordable houses did not outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and 
significant harm to the character and appearance of Great Eversden.   
 

3. S/1174/81/O for residential development, S/1657/81/O for residential 
development, S/0735/86/O for local authority housing, and S/1205/86 for 

Agenda Item 4

Page 3



Council housing for the elderly were all withdrawn. 
 

 Planning Policies 
  

4. National 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
National Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5. South Cambridgeshire LDF Core Strategy DPD 2007 

 
ST/1 Green Belt 
ST/2 Housing Provision 
ST/7 Infill Villages 

               
6. Local Development Framework, Development Control Policies DPD 2007 
 

DP/1 Sustainable Development 
DP/2 Design of New Development 
DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/4 Infrastructure and new development 
DP/7 Development Frameworks 
GB/1 Development within the Green Belt 
GB/2 Mitigating the impact of development in the Green Belt   
HG/1 Housing Density 
HG/3 Affordable Housing 
HG/5 Exceptions sites for affordable housing 
SF/6 Public Art and New Development 
SF/10 Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
SF/11 Open Space Standards 
NE/1 Energy Efficiency 
NE/3 Renewable Energy Technologies in New Development 
NE/4 Landscape Character Areas    
NE/6 Biodiversity 
NE/7 Sites of Geological Importance  
NE/9 Water and Drainage Infrastructure  
NE/10 Foul Drainage – Alternative Drainage Systems  
NE/11 Flood Risk 
NE/12 Water Conservation 
NE/14 Lighting Proposals 
NE/15 Noise Pollution  
NE/16 Emissions 
CH/4 Development within the curtilage or setting of a Listed Building   
SF/10 – Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
SF/11 – Open Space Standards 
TR/1 Planning for More Sustainable Travel 
TR/2 - Car and Cycle Parking Standards 
TR/3 Mitigating Travel Impact 
TR/4 Non-motorised Transport 

 
7. Supplementary Planning Document(s) 

 
District Design Guide SPD – adopted 2010  
Affordable Housing SPD – adopted March 2010 
Listed Buildings: Works to or affecting the setting of SPD – Adopted July 2009 

Page 4



 
8. Emerging Local Plan 
 

S/1 Vision 
S/2 Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
S/4 Cambridge Green Belt 
S/5 Provision of jobs and homes 
S/7 Development Frameworks  
S/11 Infill villages 
CC/1 Mitigation and adaption to climate change 
CC/3 Renewable and low carbon energy in new development 
CC/4 Sustainable design and construction 
CC/6 Construction Methods 
CC/7 Water quality 
HQ/1 Design principles 
NH/2 Protecting and enhancing landscape character  
NH/4 Biodiversity 
MH/8 Mitigating the impact of development in and adjoining the Green Belt 
NH/14 Heritage Assets 
H/10 Rural exception sites for affordable housing  

  
Consultations 

  
9. Eversden Parish Council – Approve. The provision of additional guest parking 

spaces in the south west corner of the development is highly desirable. Lighting 
for the site should be low pollution as in Low Close, Little Eversden. We are not at 
all happy with the proposed red brick boundary wall.  
 

10. Councillor Page – (Local Member) - (Full comments set out in Appendix A) The 
reasons for continued refusal on this site are simple. OSP148 is an open space in 
the Green Belt and outside the village envelope, and once lost is lost forever. In 
the context of nearby listed buildings and the church it is a very significant open 
space. The site should have two further protections – the hedge along the 
frontage should be declared an ‘Important Countryside Frontage’, with the site a 
‘Local Green Space’. No serious attempt has been made to find an alternative 
site. There is local opposition to the scheme with 53 signatories to a petition 
against the development.    

 
11. Councillor Howell (Housing Portfolio Holder) – (Full comments set out in 

Appendix B). As Housing Portfolio Holder I felt it was important to write to provide 
my support for this planning application, which is seeking to secure 10 units of 
affordable housing on a rural exception site, which is in the ownership of this 
authority. 
 

12. I understand that there is a need for small development to help meet the local 
housing needs of this village. It is important that as a strategic enabling authority 
where housing demand is high that we try and use any assets that we hold to help 
in meeting this increasing need. 
 

13. Since 2007 this authority has provided over 486 new homes on rural exception 
sites. Policy HG/5 has delivered more affordable housing for this district than 
policy HG/3 (with the exception of the strategic growth sites) and it is important 
that we provide much needed affordable housing to our parishes. We also have a 

Page 5



commitment through the City Deal to provide an additional 1000 homes on 
exception sites over the next 10 years. 
 

14. I am aware of the Low Close Little Eversden scheme which was completed 
approximately 4 years ago and this has been well received by the parish and local 
community. I am advised that the development was able to accommodate 
residents who had a local connections to either Great or Little Eversden and I 
would like to ensure that the same allocation criteria is applied to this scheme too. 
Whilst our policy asks us to consider just the local need to the particular parish. 
Given the size of some of our villages we are at serious risk of not being able to 
provide any more affordable homes in smaller parishes where the needs of others 
cannot be accommodated.  
 

15. The changes to the way affordable housing is funded and managed now and in 
the future presents a real threat to the success of projects such as this, we should 
ensure that as an authority we embrace projects such as these where we have 
willing partners who would fund such projects. 
 

16. SCDC Housing – Support. A housing needs survey was carried out in January 
2014 which identified 12 households as being in need of housing and who had a 
local connection to the Eversdens. The proposed housing mix is in accordance 
with the housing needs survey. 
 

17. SCDC Landscape - Object. Much of the area has a relatively tranquil rural 
character. Great Eversden is a historic village with small paddocks around its 
perimeter creating a buffer between the village and large arable fields, and the 
development in one of these paddocks will have a harmful effect in its own right. 
When viewed from the footpath the development would have a harmful effect on 
the specific views and general amenity. The layout would not be appropriate 
within this well-defined village edge and be harmful to the character of Great 
Eversden 

 
18. SCDC Ecology – The application is supported on ecology grounds due to the 

environmental enhancements proposed from the layout – primarily the provision 
of the community orchard and retained tree belt at the front of the development.  

 
19. SCDC Historic Buildings – Adopted policy CH/4 advises permission will not be 

granted which adversely affects the wider setting of a listed building. English 
Heritage define setting as ‘the surroundings in which a heritage asset is 
experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its 
surroundings evolve’. The immediate area to the site has been subject of very 
little change and a previous proposal for low cost housing as an exception site 
was dismissed at appeal primarily on the likely effect on the character and 
appearance of the village and making reference to the concept of Guardian 
Fields. In line with English Heritages precautionary principle, where there is any 
doubt decision makers should err on the side of caution and recommend refusal.   

 
20. Highways Authority – No objection.  
 
21. Anglian Water – The foul drainage and sewerage system has available capacity 

to cope with the flows.   
 
22. Environmental Health (Contamination) – No conditions are required.  
 

Page 6



23. Police Architectural Liaison Officer – No issues in terms of layout and design 
but raise the following issues; surveillance for the car parking for plots 1 and 5 is 
not spectacular, with little surveillance of the parking for plots 4 and 10. The semi-
private nature of what is proposed means that for this application this won’t 
actually be too much of an issue. The site is non-permeable which reduces 
considerably the risk of crime.  

 
24. English Heritage – Object. The proposed development would cause harm to the 

setting of the grade 2* listed Church of St Mary and other designated heritage 
assets in the vicinity and is therefore contrary to policies 131, 134 and 137 of the 
NPPF.  

 
25. County Archaeology – No objection. Recommend a condition requiring a 

programme of archaeological work prior to commencement of development.  
 
26. Campaign for the Preservation of Rural England – Object. An estate of 10 

dwellings would be out of keeping with this rural area. Result in a loss of rural 
landscape. Encourage the identified need to be found elsewhere with every effort 
to locate such developments in villages which have facilities.  
     

 Representations 
  

27. Two representations have been received supporting the application siting the 
following reasons; 
• Most residents regard the recent project at Low Close a success and so 

would this development proposal 
• Few houses have been built in the village in recent years 
• The site is central to the village with the dwellings attractive 
• The village desperately needs more affordable housing 

 
28. Eight representations have been received opposing the application for the 

following reasons; 
 
• Harmful to the character of the village 
• Harmful to the church and other heritage assets 
• Located in the Green Belt and contrary to Green Belt policy 
• Lack of local services in the village  
• The need for affordable housing is in Little Eversden where the 

development should be located 
• The site is only under consideration as the land is owned by SCDC 
• The building materials are out of keeping with the village 
• Loss of green space 
• Vehicular access is dangerous as is the nearby S-bend 
• Sewerage will not be able to cope 
• Surface water drainage concerns  
• There is a lack of community support for the development 
• No attempt has been made by the applicant to identify other suitable 

locations 
• Great and Little Eversden are separate parishes and the need should be 

provided in each individual parish in accordance with the adopted 
Affordable Housing SPD 

• Harmful to bats, through the loss of the hedge 
• There is no need for the development 
• Harmful to the landscape character 

Page 7



• Site is not sustainable 
   

29. A petition signed by 63 residents objecting to the development has been received. 
The grounds of objection can be summarised as: unsafe vehicular access, out of 
character with rural village, disproportionate for a village of 100 dwellings, 
inappropriate in the Green Belt, cause harm to the setting of historic buildings, 
removal of elm hedge undermines character of street scene, lack of services in 
the village and there is no evidence the applicant has researched more 
sustainable sites with better services. 

 
Planning Comments 
 

30. The site which is broadly rectangular in shape is located to the east of the village 
of Great Eversden immediately north of Church Street, and is presently used for 
livestock grazing. A mature hedgerow forms the southern boundary extending 
parallel with Church Street. 
  

31. Full planning consent is sought for the construction of 10 affordable dwellings 
comprising 2no. two bed houses for shared ownership, 1no. two bed bungalow for 
rent, 6no. two bed house for rent and 1no. three bed house for rent.  
 

32. The site lies outside the village framework and in the Green Belt. 
 

33. Great and Little Eversden are two separate administrative parishes, although they 
share a Parish Council.  
 
Principle of development/Green Belt 
 

34. The site lies within the Green Belt where the NPPF advises the construction of 
new buildings is inappropriate development which by definition is harmful to the 
Green Belt. One of the exceptions to this is “limited affordable housing for local 
community needs under policies set out in the Local Plan”. The relevant SCDC 
policy is HG/5 which states planning permission may be granted for schemes of 
100% affordable housing designed to meet local needs on small sites within or 
adjoining villages. 
 

35. The site is located adjacent the village framework of Great Eversden, which is 
defined as an ‘Infill Village’ on the Councils settlement hierarchy in both the 
adopted Core Strategy and emerging Local Plan. Infill Villages are described as 
having a poor range of services and facilities where it is often necessary for local 
residents to travel outside the village for most of their daily needs. Core Strategy 
policy ST/7 reflects this, only allowing a maximum of two new open market 
dwellings on greenfield sites within the framework boundary.  
 

36. The adopted Affordable Housing SPD is less prescriptive advising exception sites 
should be ‘small’, and not greater than the level of local need identified, as well as 
being appropriate in scale to the category of the village in the settlement 
hierarchy.  
 
Need for the development 
 

37. The application is supported by a Housing Needs Survey, which examined the 
‘need’ for affordable housing across both Great and Little Eversden. This 
concluded there is a current and immediate need for 12 houses to be built. The 
results of this survey are supported by the Councils Housing team and as such it 

Page 8



is considered there is an identified need for the scale of affordable housing 
proposed within this application. The development comprises 2no. two bed 
houses for shared ownership, 1no. two bed bungalow for rent, 6no. two bed 
house for rent and 1no. three bed house for rent. The size, design, mix and tenure 
of the dwellings is considered to meet the identified need. 
 

38. Some of the third party representations draw attention to this ‘need’ emulating 
from Little Eversden and not Great Eversden, in conflict with the requirements of 
the affordable housing SPD which advises ‘for the purposes of the rural exception 
site policy, local need is defined as identified need in the individual village or the 
local area it serves, defined as the parish boundary’.   
 

39. Officers are of the view given the small size of both villages and close proximity to 
one another assessing the need across both Parish Council administrative areas 
is justified. Moreover the Planning Committee has previously addressed this issue 
elsewhere for development in the Eversdens and indeed accepted the “joint” need 
was appropriate when considering the original scheme back in 2011.  
 
Alternative sites 
 

40. Policy HG/5 requires that in the case of sites within the Green Belt, planning 
permission should not be granted unless the District Council is assured there are 
no other appropriate sites for the scale and type of development proposed.  As 
above, the ‘need’ for the development has been assessed across both parishes 
and therefore it is necessary to consider alternative sites adjoining both villages. 
The application is supported by a ‘Sequential Test’ which examines and discards 
a range of sites abutting the village framework of Great and Little Eversden. 
Officers are supportive of the reasons why these sites have been discarded.  
 

41. It is of note both villages are completed surrounded by Green Belt, and therefore 
any exception site outside the village framework would need to be located within 
this designation. 
 
Sustainability 
 

42. Criterion c. of Policy HG/5 requires the development site to be well-related to the 
built-up area of the settlement, with the scale of the scheme appropriate to the 
size and character of the village. Criterion d. requires the site is well related to 
facilities and services within the village. 
  

43. Great Eversden is listed separately from the village of Little Eversden on the 
settlement hierarchy (both Infill Villages) as well as being two distinct parishes. 
However both villages share a Parish Council and are in close proximity to each 
another, and as such for the purposes of assessing the sustainability of the site it 
is considered logical to take into account the scale and service provision offered 
across both villages as a single entity.  
 

44. This approach is supported by paragraph 55 of the NPPF which advises in rural 
areas ‘development in one village may support services in a nearby village’. 
Officers have already expressed the view this logic applies to the ‘need for the 
development’ as well as a consideration of ‘alternative sites’, where the search 
area should reasonably extend across both parishes.  

 
45. In combination both villages have a total of 340 residential properties, doctors 

surgery, recreation ground, Indian restaurant and village hall. Within this context 

Page 9



the construction of 10 affordable dwellings is considered sustainable and in 
compliance with the spirit of the Affordable Housing SPD.  To this extent, the 
scale of the scheme is appropriate to the size and character of the village. 
 
Effect on heritage assets  
 

46. Criterion e. of Policy HG/5 states development should not damage the character 
of the village or rural landscape. Policy CH/4 advises planning permission will not 
be granted for development which would adversely affect the wider setting of a 
Listed Building. Further policies relating to heritage assets include the adopted 
SPD and emerging Local Plan policy NH/14, which both advise a precautionary 
stance when considering the impact on heritage assets.  
 

47. The NPPF advises that when considering the impact of a proposed development 
on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 
to the assets conservation, with the more important the asset the greater the 
weight. The framework goes on to advise significance can be harmed by 
development within a heritage assets setting.  
 

48. The protection offered to heritage assets extends beyond policy guidance, with 
planning law requiring the decision maker to ‘have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting’.  
 

49. The site is located circa 60m, at its closest point, from the ‘S bend’ in Church 
Street to the east, around which a number of listed buildings are grouped. These 
include The Homestead, Outbuilding at The Homestead, Church Farm and Barn 
at Church Farm (all Grade 2 Listed), along with the Grade 2* Listed Church of St 
Mary. This grouping is visually separated from the village by the application site 
and further ‘open countryside’ to the south of Church Street. Officers are of the 
view this separation significantly and positively contributes to the setting of these 
listed buildings and in particular the Grade 2* listed church.  
 

50. The appeal decision for planning reference S/3202/88/F refers to this land 
(development site) as ‘Guardian Fields’. Although this is not recognised heritage 
terminology this is an accurate description of the role the site plays in the setting 
of the listed buildings.  
 

51. The proposed development would extend the built form of the village east of 
Chapel Road into the ‘Guardian Field’ creating a visual link with the isolated listed 
buildings concentrated around the church. This link would be apparent from a 
number of views in and out of the village. 
. 

52. English Heritage advise the isolation of the listed buildings from the main village 
affords a much stronger presence (for the listed buildings) in the landscape and 
underlines the churches historic status as the primary building in the community, 
and conclude the development would harm the setting of these buildings. Officers 
are of the view this harm is ‘significant’ but not ‘substantial’. 

 
53. Further listed buildings (The Cottage and Telephone Kiosk, both Grade 2 listed) 

can be found to the north-west of the site beyond no. 3 Church Street, with the 
Grade 2 listed hall to the north-west. These buildings are sufficiently separated 
from the application site such that no material harm arises to their setting. 

 
54. The construction of ten residential dwellings in this location will permanently erode 

the open space or ‘Guardian Field’ between the village and group of listed 

Page 10



buildings concentrated around the church, adversely affecting the setting of the 
listed buildings contrary to local and national policy requirements. Both the 
councils historic buildings officer and English Heritage oppose the scheme. 
 

55. Whilst the application attempts to mitigate this harm through a low density 
scheme and detailed design of the properties, this is insufficient to address the 
harm and the setting of the listed buildings and the historic landscape will be 
significantly adversely affected.  

 
Landscape 
 

56. The landscape officer advises Great Eversden is an historic village with small 
paddocks around its perimeter which creates a buffer between the village and 
large arable fields, and that the village is in linear form with rows of cottages and a 
few larger farmsteads facing the roads and paths. A further notable landscape 
feature is that the site is bordered by a hedge to its south-western boundary which 
extends parallel with Church Street, and which is an attractive feature in the 
landscape.  
 

57. The construction of 10 houses on this site including removal of part of the 
hedgerow to provide the required access, will result in an adverse impact on the 
landscape character. This is compounded by the site layout which is not 
considered appropriate in a village with a well-defined edge.   

 
58. Whilst the landscape impact is mitigated by the low density of the scheme, 

bespoke layout and varied form and appearance of the properties, this is 
insufficient to overcome the landscape harm.  
 
Highway safety 
 

59. The county highways authority does not raise an objection as the required 
visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m can be achieved. Furthermore sufficient off road 
parking is provided on site.  
 
Ecology 
 

60. The application is supported by a habitat and protected species report, which 
although dating from 2011 is considered acceptable by the council’s ecologist. 
The ecology officer supports the development on grounds the environmental 
enhancements proposed through the provision of a community orchard and 
retained tree belt to the front of the development result in benefit with the 
development not significantly impacting upon biodiversity interests.  
 

61. The most significant short term impact arises from works to the front hedge, and 
although a large section is to be lost this will be adequately compensated through 
new planting within the site.  

 
62. The site is located close to Eversden and Wimpole Woods SAC and as such 

there is potential for the vegetation to provide feeding and habitat linkage for bats 
moving across the landscape. Light pollution emitting from the new houses can 
impact on bats but sufficient ‘dark gaps’ will remain for bats to continue to move 
through this parcel of land. The erection of bat boxes and the planting of trees and 
shrubs (which can be controlled through condition) will ensure enhancements for 
local bat species as a greater variety of feeding opportunities will be created.         

 

Page 11



Archaeology 
 
63. The County Council archaeologist highlights there is known archaeological 

evidence in the vicinity of the site owing to prehistoric and Roman occupation 
along with the more contemporary origins of the village, and recommends a 
programme of archaeological investigation to be secured by condition.     

 
Environmental Impact Assessment 

 
64. The application has been ‘screened’ under the Environmental Impact Assessment 

Regulations (EIA). A screening opinion was given on 17 December 2014. The 
development falls within category 10(b) of Schedule 2 of the 2011 regulations and 
exceeds the threshold in column 2 of the table in that schedule. Taking into 
account the criteria of Schedule 3 (the characteristics of the development, the 
site’s location outside of any ‘sensitive’ area, and the characteristics of the 
potential impact the development) it is not considered to represent EIA 
development.  

 
Other considerations 

 
65. Concerns have been raised relating to the impartiality of the planning decision 

making process given the site is within the ownership of South Cambridgeshire 
District Council. The permission may result in financial benefit to the Council 
through means of uplift in the value of the land due to the grant of planning 
permission. This is not a material planning consideration and cannot be taken into 
account in the decision making process.  

 
66. The police architectural liaison officer advises there have been three crimes 

recorded in the village in the past 12 months none of which were in this post code, 
and considers the ‘non-permeable’ layout of scheme to reduce the risk of crime 
considerably. Some concerns are expressed over the natural surveillance of the 
parking spaces, however this is not considered significant.      

 
67. No concerns are raised with regard to contamination from the Council’s 

Environmental Health officer. 
 
68. Anglian Water confirms there is sufficient capacity for waste water and foul 

sewage treatment. Surface water run off can be controlled through condition.  
 
69. The National Planning Practice Guidance has recently been amended and 

advises planning obligations should not be sought from developments of 10 units 
or less and which have a maximum combined gross floorpsace of no more than 
1000sqm. In light of this legal advice is being sought as to whether the authority 
can secure the necessary financial contributions for public open space and 
community facilities and members will be updated at the planning committee. This 
does not affect the ability to secure the dwellings as affordable units in perpetuity.      

Page 12



 
Representations  
 

70. Local opinion is divided on the application, with the Parish Council supporting the 
scheme and a number of local residents of Great Eversden and the District 
Councillor opposed.    
 

71. The Campaign for Rural England oppose the application on grounds the 
development will ruin the view from the footpath to the edge of the site, and whilst 
recognising the need for affordable houses consider such a scheme should be 
located elsewhere in a locality which has facilities.     
 
Conclusions 
 

72. In determining planning applications it is often necessary to balance competing 
factors. In this case the identified need and public benefit of providing much 
needed affordable housing needs to be weighed against the harm to the Green 
Belt/landscape and adverse effect on the historic environment. In addition, 
planning law requires the decision maker to have “special regard” to the 
desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings. 
 

73. Officers accept and understand the importance of delivery of affordable housing 
especially when it is built out to meet the needs of a particular parish. 
Nonetheless, and reluctantly, officers are of the view that the harm identified to 
the historic environment and landscape character are major concerns which 
outweigh the public benefit of providing the affordable housing.  
  

 Recommendation 
 
74. Refusal for the following reasons – 

 
(i) The development will result in the permanent loss of open countryside and 

Green Belt which forms an important gap between the cluster of Grade 2 
Listed Buildings (The Homestead, Outbuilding at The Homestead, Church 
Farm and Barn at Church Farm) and the Grade 2* listed church of St Mary 
and the village of Great Eversden. This loss of separation will significantly 
detract from the setting of these listed buildings contrary to the requirements 
of Policy CH/4 of the Local Development Framework Development Control 
Policies (LDF DCP) 2007 which states planning permission will not be granted 
for development which would adversely affect the curtilage or wider setting of 
a Listed Building, adopted Listed Buildings: Works to or affecting the setting of 
SPD, and Chapter 12 of the NPPF. This harm is considered significant, and is 
not outweighed by the public benefits of providing affordable housing. 

 
(ii) The development will introduce a form of development contrary to the 

prevailing linear form of the village and result in the loss of an important gap 
site that will harm the landscape setting of the village. The development is 
therefore contrary to Policies DP/2, DP/3 and HG/5 of the LDF DCP 2007 
which states planning permission will not be granted for development which 
would fail to preserve or enhance the character of the local area and have an 
unacceptable adverse impact on the countryside and landscape character. 
This harm is considered significant, and is not outweighed by the public 
benefits of providing affordable housing.  

 
 

Page 13



Background Papers 
 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website or elsewhere at 
which copies can be inspected.  
 
• Nation Planning Policy Framework 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
• Local Development Framework, Development Control Policies, Adopted July 2007 

http://www.scambs.gov.uk/content/local-development-framework 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan, Proposed Submission July 2013 

http://www.scambs.gov.uk/localplan 
  

Report Author:  Andrew Fillmore – Principal Planning Officer 
Telephone: (01954) 713180 

Page 14



 
 
 
Robin Page 
 
Disgraceful Planning                                                OSP 148 
 
When I was elected on to South Cambridgeshire District Council (SCDC) for the Haslingfield, Harlton 
and Eversdens ward on 3.5.2012 I did not realise that I would be walking into an issue in Eversden 
steeped in animosity and vitriol – the site known as OSP 148. Because of the tangled web of 
controversy that surrounds it I have obtained its history from a Freedom of Information (FOI) 
request sent to SCDC. The FOI request was made because I did not feel that I was receiving all the 
information available either from the SCDC or the Chairman of the Everdens Parish Council and I 
wanted to make an objective appraisal. I should also point out that although I was elected onto the 
Council for Haslingfield, I had previously served for over forty years on SCDC for Barton, including 
many years on the Planning Committee, but resigned in 2006 on a matter of principle. I decided to 
stand again because of the rising planning pressures being put on South Cambridgeshire and on 
individual councillors. I was re-elected as an “independent” environmentalist – but also as someone 
who has always supported social/affordable housing, which includes Council Housing. Many of 
today’s housing problems were not caused by the simple sale of council houses – but by the removal 
of the Discount under which they were sold. The price for the resale of the properties should have 
retained the selling discount linked to the Halifax Index – sadly a missed opportunity for retaining 
housing sanity. 
The FOI request revealed nearly 1000 documents and I have not yet had time to read them all. It has 
confirmed that much lobbying was being carried out for the site to be developed despite strong 
environmental reasons against such development and despite the objections of many completely 
reasonable members of the village. 
Much of the lobbying was conducted by the previous Liberal Democrat District councillor. In my view 
her lobbying did not come from her politics, I know many good Lib/Dem environmentalists, but from 
her urban background. FOI has revealed that the present Parish Council Chairman, and the previous 
Parish Council Chairman were also in regular contact with officers advocating that the site should be 
built on, with their efforts by-passing me. There are also indications that various meetings took place 
at which no minutes or notes appeared, for example 17/9/2013, and there were numerous meetings 
between the Parish Council Chairman , the developers and S.Cambs staff which bypassed me 
completely and were not reported to me – these were only confirmed by my Freedom of 
Information request. 

Page 15



Astonishingly in emails, the present Chairman Mr Paul Tebbit refers to opponents of the plan to 
build on OSP 148 as “Nimby’s” – ( eg email to council staff, Acre and two selective members of 
Eversdens Parish Council 3.12.2013). 
By appearing to insult opponents in this way Mr Tebbit demonstrates a complete lack of respect in 
my view and in my view also he should resign immediately. The facts are that the site is in the Green 
Belt, it is outside the village envelope and people, including me, and organisation who live nowhere 
near the site object to its development, including English Heritage and CPRE. 
It should also be said that in my view Mr.Tebbit actually owns a brownfield site (an old pig unit) 
where it is highly likely that planning permission for social/affordable housing could be obtained. He 
has already converted some old buildings into holiday lets and recently applied for another 
conversion (which was refused). From his reluctance to develop the brownfield site of his pig unit for 
social housing, preferring to advocate site OSP148, is Mr Tebbit in fact behaving like a “Nimby”?                                 
The same could be applied to the former Parish Council Chairman Mr.Clive Dalton who actually has 
land in the village envelope and outside the Green Belt which could be developed for the affordable 
houses he claims he would like to see built. So does OSP148 also reveal Mr Dalton’s Nimby 
tendancies? 
The reasons for continued refusal on this site are simple. 
At the last application there was an officer recommendation that the application should be 
refused.In my view nothing has materially changed and again refusal ought to be recommended, 
although at the time of writing I have no information on officer recommendations. Of course over 
recent years the conservation element of planning has been considerably reduced within SCDC 
which in my view reduces the credibility of the planning process. 
OSP 148 is in the Green Belt and outside the village envelope – it is an important  open space – open 
space is an important element in responsible development and planning. Once a site like OSP 148 is 
lost, it is lost forever. In the context of nearby listed buildings and the church it is a very significant 
open space. 
As an open space between the two villages it is also important and it is thought likely that there are 
important historical aspects that need to be properly explored. 
It should be said that the site should also have two local protections but the Parish Council failed to 
have those protections , implemented. The hedge along the roadside of the plot should have been 
declared “Important Countryside Frontage”, similar to the hedge on the opposite side of the road 
and it should also have been declared “A Local Green Space”. 
In my view the Parish Council, by ignoring both opportunities, acted irresponsibly and also confirmed  
that they had pre-judged the issue and would make no serious effort to find an alternative site, as 
revealed in documents dating back to 2007. 
Although the Parish Council claims to have looked for alternative sites there is no “paper trail” 
showing that any serious searches or approaches were actually made. But yet a document produced 

Page 16



for some residents by Bidwells demonstrated quite clearly that other sites could have been 
considered quite seriously. 
An offer has been made by a village resident to buy the site for £52,000. In my opinion it would be 
irresponsible not accept the offer and seek to spend it on one of the alternative sites that could be 
made available. Interestingly my Freedom of Information Request has revealed that in June 2013 the 
Council had already received an offer of £50,000 for the site – this offer was apparently refused by 
legal officer Gary Duthie without appearing to refer it to the Planning Committee (email from Gary 
Duthie to staff 17.6.2013) and without reporting it to me as the local member. 
It is interesting to note that objectors to OSP 148 carried out a survey. They collected 53 signatures 
in Great Eversden against the development, representing 31 households, showing that 33% of the 
village is strongly opposed to the development of the site and it should be remembered that the site 
is in Great Eversden and the central issue should involve the community of Great Eversden. They 
should not be brow beaten by other issues and other agendas; which is a polite way of saying that 
they should not be bullied. 
It should be remembered too that there are few facilities for young families in the village. There is no 
shop, no school and no regular, convenient bus service; this site is exactly where social or affordable 
housing should not be. As a result the residents of the proposed houses would have to travel outside 
the village for simple amenities and would have to have transport. The developed site would 
therefore automatically have parked cars – again helping to destroy the character of what is now an 
important open space that could not be retained in any serious way with development. 
 
As I delve through the huge volume of documents gathered under the FOI request – I am sure that 
other issues will emerge. 
I believe that  the site OSP 148 should be sold and under no circumstances be developed. 
Furthermore the very fact of a re-application has revealed to me some very disturbing forces and 
practices in what we call our transparent democracy. “Transparent” it most certainly is not.  

Page 17



Page 18

This page is left blank intentionally.



 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                     Affordable Homes 
Our ref:              Contact: Cllr Mark Howell 
Your ref:  
25TH November 2014 
 
Dear Andrew 
 
Planning Application S/1344/14/FL Site OSP 148 Great Eversden  
 
As Housing Portfolio Holder I felt it was important to write to provide my support for this planning 
application, which is seeking to secure 10 units of affordable housing on a rural exception site, 
which is in the ownership of this authority. 
 
I understand that there is a need for a small development to help meet the local housing needs of 
this village. It is important that as a strategic enabling authority where housing demand is high 
that we try and use any land assets that we hold to help in meeting this increasing need.  
 
Since 2007 this authority has provided over 466 new homes on rural exception sites. Policy HG/5 
has delivered more affordable housing for this district than policy HG/3 (with the exception of the 
strategic growth sites) and it is important that we provide much needed affordable housing to our 
parishes. We also have a commitment through the City Deal to provide an additional 1,000 
homes on exception sites over the next 10 years. 
 
I am aware of the Low Close Little Eversden scheme which was completed approximately 4 
years ago and this has been well received by the parish and local community. I am advised that 
the development was able to accommodate residents who had a local connections to either Great 
or Little Eversden and I would like to ensure that the same allocation criteria is applied to this 
scheme too. Whilst our policy asks us to consider just the local need to the particular parish, 
given the size of some of our villages we are at serious risk of not being able to provide any more 
affordable homes in smaller parishes where the needs of others cannot be accommodated. 
 
The changes to the way affordable housing is funded and managed now and in the future 
presents a real threat to the success of projects such as this, we should ensure that as an 
authority we embrace projects such as these where we have willing partners who would fund 
such projects. 
 
Yours sincerely 
Cllr Mark Howell – Housing Portfolio Holder 

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 
Cambourne Business Park 
Cambourne 
Cambridge,  
CB23 6EA 
03450 450 500 
www.scambs.gov.uk 
 

Mr Andrew Fillmore 
Principal Planning Officer 
South Cambridgeshire District Council 
Cambourne 
CB23 6EA 
 

Page 19



 
 
 

Page 20



11

Station

13

Pumping

6

8

5

Church Farm
Cottage

T
ra

ck

Church Farm CHURCH STREET

2

35.3m

St Mary's Church

CHAPEL R
OAD

7

2

5

4

CHURCH LANE

(Track)

3

3

2

(PH)

The Hoops

1

TCB

31.3m Shelter

Eversden
Great

Pond

3

10

9

6

2

18

8

1

a
6

7

Drain

23

17

Drain

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:2500
Time of plot: 09:27 Date of plot: 11/02/2015

0 1 2 300m

© Crown copyright.

Page 21



Page 22

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 4 March 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/2216/14/FL 
  
Parish(es): Steeple Morden 
  
Proposal: Erection of two detached dwellings, 

detached garage and access following 
demolition of existing dwelling. 

  
Site address: 48 Station Road  
 Girton 

 
Applicant(s): Moatside Properties 
  
Recommendation: Delegated Approval 
  
Key material considerations: Principle of Development 

Visual Impact 
Residential Amenity 
Highway Safety 

  
Committee Site Visit: 3 March 2015 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: John Koch 
  
Application brought to Committee because: Parish Council recommendation of refusal 

conflicts with Officers recommendation 
  
Date by which decision due: 29 December 2014 
 

 
 Site and Proposal 
 
1. The site is located within the village development framework for Steeple Morden.   
 
2. The site currently comprises a modest detached 2 bedroom single storey bungalow 

and garage located close to the road frontage.  Access to the site is direct from 
Station Road.  It has parking for one car and a garage.  There are existing 
outbuildings directly to the rear of the bungalow on the southern boundary. 

 
3. The proposal seeks to demolish the bungalow and replace it with a 4 bedroom two 

storey dwelling with integral garage and erect a further 4 bedroom two storey house 
and detached garage to the rear.  Access to the proposed dwelling to the rear of the 
site would be from a new private drive.  The dwelling to the front of the site would use 
the existing access. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 23



 
4. To the rear of the site is a large dwelling served by a private drive adjoining the 

southern boundary (side boundary).  To the north is a 2 storey dwelling fronting 
Station Road and  set back level with the proposed dwelling in the rear garden is a 
further two storey house and detached garage which is served by Plough Close. 

 
5. The general character of the area to the west of Station Road is residential.  The 

surrounding properties comprise mainly two storey detached houses with a variety of 
designs.  To the east of Station Road is open countryside. 

 
Planning History 
 

6. Outline planning permission was granted under S/2425/13/OL for the erection of a 
detached dwelling and garage and formation of an associated access to erect a 
garage to the rear of the existing bungalow.   
 

 Planning Policies 
 
7. National Planning Policy Framework (Adopted March 2012) 
 
8. Local Development Framework Core Strategy 2007: 

ST/6 Group Villages  
 
9. Local Development Framework Development Control Policies (Adopted July 2007); 

DP/1 Sustainable Development  
DP/2 Design of new Development  
DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/4 Infrastructure and New Development  
DP/7 Development Frameworks 
HG/1 Housing Density 
HG/2 Housing Mix 
NE/1 Energy Efficiency 
SF/10 Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
TR/2 Car and Cycle Parking Standards 

 
10. Supplementary Planning Documents 

District Design Guide SPD (adopted March 2010) 
 
 Consultations 
  
11. Steeple Morden Parish Council recommends refusal.  Both properties are too big.  

Five access points in a short distance.  Height of properties a particular concern. 
 
12. The Local Highways Authority has no objections, subject to conditions controlling 

pedestrian visibility splays, surface water drainage, and bound materials for the 
access drive. 
 

13. Environmental Health Officer recommends safeguarding conditions and 
informatives regarding hours of working. 

 
14. Historic Environment Team has no objection subject to a programme of 

archaeological investigation. 
  

  

Page 24



Representations 
 

15. 3 Letters of objection and a sunlight analysis have been received from the immediate 
neighbours to the rear and north south raising the following concerns: 

 
(i) The ridge height of proposed dwelling and garage to the rear is higher than 

the neighbouring dwelling resulting in an overbearing impact and loss of light. 
 
(ii) The hedge on the southern boundary is owned by the neighbouring property. 
 
(iii) The rear windows of the proposed dwelling, sited to the rear, would overlook 

the property to the rear and the front windows would overlook the properties to 
the north. 

 
(iv) The garage is sited further forward than the neighbouring garage. 
 
(v) Increase in noise and disturbance. 
 
(vi) Proposed dwelling to the front too large for the plot, footprint larger than 

existing footprint, proposed dwelling extends further back into plot.  
Overbearing impact on street scene. 

 
 Planning Comments 
 
 Principle of Development 
 
16. The NPPF advises that every effort should be made to identify and then meet the 

housing needs of an area, and respond positively to wider opportunities for growth. 
Additionally the Development Plan (Core Strategy Development Plan Document 
adopted January 2007 and Development Control Policies Development Plan adopted 
January 2007) identify Steeple Morden as a 'group village’ where the construction of 
new residential dwellings within the framework is supported.  The site is within the 
development framework for the village. 
 

17. The principle of a new dwelling to the rear has been established by the recent grant 
of outline planning permission.  The principle of a replacement dwelling is also 
consistent with policy. At the present time, the Council cannot demonstrate a five year 
housing land supply. While policies ST/6 and DP/7 may be out of date as a result, the 
proposal would nonetheless be consistent with plan policies as a matter of principle.  

 
18. A draft heads of terms that covers the required contributions towards community 

facilities, public open space and waste receptacles for the proposed two dwellings 
has been agreed with the applicant. 

 
Visual Impact 
 

19. The dwelling types along this part of Station Road are predominantly of two storeys 
and therefore a two storey dwelling would not be out of keeping with the character 
and appearance of the area.  The siting of the proposed dwelling to the front of the 
site would not extend forward of the line of the neighbouring dwelling.  The eaves and 
ridge height of the proposed dwelling are similar to the neighbouring two storey 
dwelling.  The roof would be hipped to reduce the bulk of the building.  It is 
considered that the new dwelling to the front of the site would not therefore be unduly 
visually intrusive within the street scene. 

 

Page 25



Residential Amenity  
 

20. In terms of impact on amenity to number 46, which lies to the north, it is accepted that 
the footprint of the proposed frontage dwelling is larger than the existing bungalow.  
The proposed dwelling does extend beyond the rear wall of no 46, however this part 
of the dwelling would be single storey.  The two storey element of the proposed 
dwelling is a similar depth as the neighbouring property and is in line with the front 
and rear.  The proposed dwelling would have hipped roofs to reduce the mass of the 
building.   
 

21. In terms of impact on amenity to No 1 Plough Close, the proposed dwelling and 
garage to the rear of the site is positioned level with the neighbouring house and 
garage in Plough Close.  The gable widths are of similar proportion, however the 
proposed dwelling does extend beyond the rear wall of the neighbouring property due 
to a single storey lean too and a two storey projection.  The two storey element is 
furthest away from the neighbouring property and therefore has less of an impact. 
In terms of height and scale the applicant has provided a street scene to indicate the 
relative scale and heights of the dwellings.  The dwelling to the rear and associated 
garage would be no higher than the immediate neighbouring house and garage.  The 
plan also indicates that the dwellings would be a similar scale when viewed from the 
street.  The proposal is therefore unlikely to have a significant overbearing impact on 
the adjacent properties. The proposal provides an adequate level of amenity and 
parking provision for each property.  Given the adjoining development and the 
general character of the area, it would be difficult to argue that the development 
would result in the overdevelopment of the site. 
 

22. The sunlight assessment acknowledges that there would be an increased level of 
overshadowing and loss of sunlight associated with the development due to the 
dwellings being positioned immediately to the south of the existing properties.  The 
loss would occur mainly during the winter months when the sun is at its lowest level 
and up until mid day in the rear gardens.   
 

23. The assessment identifies that after noon there would be no loss of sunlight in the 
private garden rear gardens of the neighbouring properties.   It is considered that the 
assessment has adequately demonstrated that the proposal would not have a 
significant adverse impact on the amenities of existing properties due to 
overshadowing and the orientation of the site compared to the sun’s path. 

 
24. In terms of privacy, the dwellings have been designed so as not to result in 

overlooking from the first floor windows.  The first floor windows in the gables serve 
bathrooms and therefore would be glazed using obscure glazing.  In addition the 
opening lights are above eye level.  A condition has been imposed to ensure these 
windows are glazed with obscure glass and designed with a top hung opening light 
only.  Views from the side of the proposed first floor bay windows would be limited 
and would face the front of the neighbouring properties and therefore not overlook 
private amenity space or result in direct overlooking. 
 

25. There is a satisfactory degree of separation between the proposed dwelling and 
between proposed and existing dwellings to provide an adequate amount of privacy.   

 
26. On balance it is considered that whilst the proposal will impact on neighbour amenity, 

this would not result in a significant adverse impact such that a refusal of planning 
permission would be justified. 

 

Page 26



27. Given the concerns raised regarding the scale of the development and the proximity 
of the neighbouring properties it is considered that permitted development rights for 
further extensions should be attached to safeguard the neighbour amenity. 
 

28. Conditions will also be attached to ensure the neighbours’ amenities are also 
safeguarded during the construction phase.  

 
Highway Safety 
 

29. The Local Highways Authority has no objections to the development subject to certain 
conditions. In response to the concerns of the parish council, it has not raised an 
objection to the location or proximity of the new access in relation to existing 
accesses in the vicinity of the site.  
 
Other Matters 
 

30. A condition requiring an archaeological investigation has been imposed at the request 
of the Historic Environment Team. 

 
31. There are several small trees and planting on the site both native and evergreen.  It is 

considered that none are of sufficient quality to be the subject of a Tree Preservation 
Order but nevertheless they do provide a habitat for birds and wildlife.  A condition is 
therefore recommended requiring the provision and implementation of a landscaping 
scheme.  The hedge on the southern boundary is not in the applicant’s ownership and 
therefore a condition requiring its retention cannot be imposed. 

 
Conclusion  
 

32. Any adverse impacts of the development are not considered to significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the material 
considerations set out in this report and the proposed development remains 
acceptable. As such it is recommended that permission be granted for officers to 
approve the scheme subject to the completion of a S106 legal agreement securing 
contributions towards open space, community facilities, waste receptacles and 
monitoring and legal fees, and the conditions outlined below. 
 

 Recommendation 
 

33. Delegated approval subject to: 
 

 S106 requirements  
  
 A scheme for contributions towards community facilities, open space and waste 

receptacles will need to be agreed prior to issuing a decision notice.  
  

 Conditions  
   
 (a) Approved Plans 
 (b) Timescale 
 (c) Archaeological investigation 
 (d) Pedestrian visibility splay 
 (e) Driveway to be constructed using bound material 
 (f) No surface water to enter highway from site. 
 (g)  Removal of householder permitted development rights regarding classes, A, B 

 C, D & E. 

Page 27



 (h)  Materials to be agreed 
 (i)  Soft and hard landscaping to be agreed and implemented 
 (j) Hours of construction for power operated machinery 
 (k)  obscure glazing and top hung lights to all first floor gable windows 
 
 Informatives 

(a) Bonfires 
(b) Demolition notice 
(c) Noise and dust prevention 

 
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy (adopted January 

2007) 
• South Cambridgeshire Development Control Polices DPD (adopted July 2007) 
• Planning Reference Files : S/2216/14/FL and S/2425/13/OL 
 
 
Report Author:  Viv Bebbington – Senior Planning Officer 
  Telephone: (01362) 656230 
 
 

Page 28



Sub Sta

18

22

17

25

El

55.9m

55.4m

51.0m

28

1a

1

51.4m

34

51.1m

4

PLOUGH CLOSE

50

W
ESTBROOK

1

48

CLOSE

1

LB

26

47

12

52.1m

3

5

6

3a

11

5

28

27

4

1

12

10

Allotment Gardens

(disused)

11

W
IN

D
M

ILL
V

IE
W

4

2

1

M
ILL

C
O

U
R

TY
A

R
D

8

7

Windmill

3a

House

Wyndmere

Park

Wyndmere

4

3

10

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:2500
Time of plot: 09:49 Date of plot: 16/02/2015

0 1 2 300m

© Crown copyright.

Page 29



Page 30

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 4 March 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/2046/14/FL 
  
Parish: Gamlingay 
  
Proposal: Change of Use to Haulage and 

Distribution Depot 
  
Site address: 12 Potton Road, Mill Hill 
  
Applicant: Kevin Hall, Halls Distribution 
  
Recommendation: Refusal 
  
Key material considerations: Principle, residential amenity, and highway 

safety 
  
Committee Site Visit: 3 March 2015 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: Paul Sexton 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The Local Members have requested that 

the matter be referred to Planning 
Committee for the reasons outlined in the 
report.  

  
Date by which decision due: 18 September 2014 
 
  
 Site and Proposal 
  
1. This full application registered on 1 September 2014 proposes the change of use of 

land and building at 12 Mill Hill, Gamlingay to a haulage and distribution depot. The 
site, which covers 0.35ha of land, is part of a larger area of land formerly used as a 
scrapyard. The land slopes slightly from the road. 
 

2. Access to the site will be via the existing entrance to the former scrapyard from 
Potton Road, to the south of the building. 
 

3. To the north of the site is a detached bungalow, and land and buildings which 
formerly comprised the site used by Cambridge Recycling. The boundary with the 
bungalow is planted. To the south and west is the remainder of the former scrapyard 
site. Opposite the site is agricultural land. 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 31



4. Halls Transport is currently located on the Green End Industrial Estate in the centre of 
Gamlingay, but needs to relocate due to the potential redevelopment of that site. 
 

5. The applicant states that there are currently 11 staff employed. The area of the site 
for which change of use is sought was formerly used for empty skip containers, public 
and employee parking, entrance to offices and weighbridge. The building was used 
for the storage of machinery and equipment. Halls Distribution currently operates 9 
HGV’s (Rigid – non articulated) up to a gross weight of 18 tonnes. The Company 
transports mostly for local companies in and around Gamlingay for 08.00 deliveries. 
 

6. The application seeks operating hours 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. However, the 
Company states that its normal traffic movement is from 05.00 hours until 18.00 
hours, although there can be occasional movements outside of these hours. The 
Company is of the view than the noise from passing traffic will be closer to the 
neighbouring property that the parking of the lorries, and that traffic movement will be 
less than Cambridge Recycling due to the nature of its business, as vehicles will be 
off site delivering for most of the day. 
 

7. On average the applicant expects there will be around 25 HGV vehicle movements a 
day to and from the site, and 25 car movements. Activities that would normally take 
place on the site would be the completion of vehicle inspections (all major work to 
vehicles is carried out off-site). HGV chassis washing is carried out off-site. 

 
Planning History 

 
8. There are a number of historic applications that relate to the former use of the site as 

a scrapyard. 
 
Policy 
 

9. National Planning Policy Framework 
 
10. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control 

Policies 
DP/1 – Sustainable Development 
DP/3 – Development Criteria 
DP/7 – Development Frameworks 
ET/5 – Development for the Expansion of Firms 
NE/8 – Groundwater 
NE/15 – Noise Pollution 
NE/16 – Emissions 
TR/1 – Planning for More Sustainable Travel 
TR/2 – Car and Cycle Parking Standards. 

 
11. Draft Local Plan 

S/3 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/7 – Development Frameworks 
CC/8 – Sustainable Drainage System 
E/16 – Expansion of Existing Businesses in the Countryside 
T/2 – Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3 – Parking Provision 

Page 32



Consultation by South Cambridgeshire District Council as Local Planning 
Authority  
 

12. Gamlingay Parish Council – recommends approval. “Request to consider condition 
on the application to include landscaping/bund/fence to reduce noise and impact of 
intensification of use of the site on property 12 Mill Hill (noise and fumes) – adjacent 
residential property.” 

 
13. Environmental Health – comment that as stated in response to the pre-application 

submission, the bungalow to the north of the site is extremely close to the site and its 
entrance. It will therefore be subjected to noise from lorry movements, which will be of 
particular concern early in the morning. Similarly lighting levels and noise from yard 
activities, starting engines, etc. would need to be addressed so as to prevent 
unacceptable nuisance to the occupiers of the bungalow. 
 

14. It is unlikely this noise will be able to be attenuated sufficiently by physical barriers 
and consequently the only viable solution would be to restrict working times. 
 

15. If approval is to be granted conditions should be imposed restricting the hours of use 
to between 08.00 hours and 18.00 hours Mondays to Saturdays, 08.00 hours and 
13.00 hours on Saturdays, with no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays. Details of 
any external lighting should be submitted for approval. 

 
16. Local Highway Authority – no objection. 
 
17. Environment Agency – following the receipt of a desk top ground contamination 

study has no objection, subject to conditions for contamination risk assessment and 
remediation, surface water drainage, and pollution control.  

 
Representations 
 

18. The occupiers of 12 Mill Hill object on the following grounds: 
 

i. Increase in traffic on an already busy road, where visibility is restricted. 
Further development already planned nearby will add to this. Slowing down of 
HGV’s to access the site will cause a hazard, particularly in dark winter 
months. 

 
ii. There is no street lighting or footpaths. 

 
iii. Impact on health from noise and fumes of from HGV’s within 20 feet of the 

living room window. The application seeks 24 hour working, 7 days a week.  
Windows will not be able to be opened. Other uses in the area already start 
up early and finish late, but this will be much closer. 

 
iv. Concern as to whether haulage use will involve chemicals or waste. 

 
19. Councillors Sebastian Kindersley and Bridget Smith strongly feel that permission 

should be granted for the business to run on the site for 24 hours per day for the 
following reasons. 
 

20. Mr Hall’s business employs 18 people, 16 of whom live in the village and 2 of whom 
are retained fire officers, who can only carry out their duties if they are working in the 
village. 
 

Page 33



21. There are reducing numbers of sites in the village suitable for B1, B2 or B8 
operations. Green End, which is currently suitable is about to lose this allocation 
when the long expected housing development application is received. The new 
employment site at Station Road has already been deemed as unsuitable for B1, B2 
or B8 use. It is believed that there is considerable interest from existing businesses at 
Green End on relocating to this site as well, but they are all waiting to see what 
happens in this case. 
 

22. All Mr Hall’s lorries have night time limiters on the audible bleepers which stop them 
working when the lights are on. The lorries are not large and consequently not noisy. 
 

23. Mr Hall’s business is currently operating from a central village location in the heart of 
the residential development with no operating hours restrictions. Neither he nor the 
Parish Council have ever received any complaints about noise. 
 

24. Gamlingay is about to lose its main employment site. Already many of the businesses 
at Green End are being forced to relocate outside of the village. This is a disaster 
from the point of view of local employment, sustainable transport options, and the 
economy of the village. Surely we should be doing everything in our power to retain 
rural businesses.  

 
Planning Considerations 
 

25. The key issues for consideration in this case are the principle of development 
(including the relocation of an existing business), residential amenity, and highway 
safety. 
 

 Principle of development  
 
26. The site is classified as brownfield land, and has previously been in commercial use. 

The principle of the re-use of the land and building for alternative commercial use is 
therefore acceptable subject to the consideration of the other matters outlined above. 
The site is well screened from Potton Road. 
 

27. Officers recognise that Halls Distribution is an established local company, and is 
seeking relocation from its current village centre site due to the likely redevelopment 
of that area of land. Officers are keen to try and find a suitable site for the company to 
relocate to within the Gamilingay area, due to local employment involved, however 
any specific impacts of the operation in the new location still need to be duly 
considered.  

 
 Residential amenity  
 
28. The applicant sought pre-application advice from officers regarding the potential for 

the use of this part of the land and building as a haulage depot. At that stage Officers 
highlighted the concern about the proximity of this part of the site to the adjacent 
bungalow, and the potential impact on the amenity of the occupiers of that property. 
 

29. In assessing the impact of the proposed use on residential amenity officers have had 
regard to the fact that the site is part of the larger area of land which was previously 
used as part of the scrapyard, and accept that the occupiers of the adjacent 
bungalow would have been likely have experienced a level of disturbance as a result 
of that use, and others in the immediate area. 
 

Page 34



30. Officers concern with the current proposal, which is reflected by the comments from 
Environmental Health, is that the concentration of HGV’s in the area to the north of 
the existing building, between it and bungalow, with the hours of operation requested 
by the applicant, will have an adverse impact on the occupiers of that property.  
 

31. Due to the constraints of the site, HGV’s will be parked in the area immediately 
adjacent to the bungalow. Although the applicant is seeking 24 hours, 7 days a week 
operation, he states that the more typical hours of operation are between 05:00 hours 
and 18:00 hours. Officer are concerned that vehicles staring up, running, and leaving 
the site in the early hours of the morning, when background noise levels will be lower 
than at other times of the day, will adversely impact on the amenity of the occupiers 
of the adjacent bungalow, leading to an unreasonable level of disturbance. This might 
then lead to possible complaints which Environmental Health may be obliged to 
investigate, and which may then impact on the operations of the Company. 
 

32. The Environmental Health Officer has indicated that it is unlikely this noise will be 
able to be attenuated sufficiently by physical barriers and consequently the only 
viable solution would be to restrict working times. This possibility has been put to the 
applicant, but has been rejected, as clearly such restriction would severely impact on 
the existing operations of the Company. Restricting hours of vehicle movement is 
therefore not an option in this case. 
 

33. The neighbour has also raised concerns re fumes and lighting levels. The 
Environmental Health Officer has not raised a specific concern regarding fumes and 
lighting of the site/yard could be satisfactorily controlled by way of an appropriate 
condition. 

 
 Highway safety and parking 
 
34. The Local Highway Authority has not objected to the proposed use. The existing site 

access will have served the previous scrapyard use, and has appropriate kerb radii. 
Adequate visibility splays can be provide either side of the access, although there will 
need to be some trimming back and maintain ace of the front boundary hedge to 
achieve the required dimensions. This could be secured by condition.  No highway 
safety concerns have been made in respect of the lack of street lighting and 
footpaths.  

 
 Other matters 
 
35. The applicant has addressed the initial concerns regarding contamination which were 

raised by the Environment Agency, and it is content that any further 
investigation/remediation works could be controlled by condition. 

 
Conclusion 

 
36. Given that the application is for the relocation of a local company, officers would like 

to be able to support the proposal. However, notwithstanding the support of the 
parish council and the two local members, officers consider the potential impact on 
the occupier of the neighbouring bungalow, particularly as a result of the hours of 
activity on the site, and proximity to the site, is a serious constraint. This cannot be 
mitigated by conditions such that the business would be able to operate successfully 
or be acceptable to the applicant. 

Page 35



 
Recommendation 

  
37. The application is refused for the following reason: 

 
(i) The use of the land and building as a haulage and distribution depot will have 

an unreasonable adverse impact on the amenity of the occupiers of the 
adjacent bungalow to the north, by increased noise and disturbance. The 
applicant seeks use of the site 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, although states 
that the normal operating hours will be between 05.00 hours and 18.00 hours. 
Given the proximity of the site to the bungalow, the noise and disturbance 
from the starting up and manoeuvring of HGS’s, particularly in the early 
morning hours will have an unreasonable adverse impact. As a result the 
proposal is contrary to the aims of Policies DP/3 and NE/16 of the adopted 
Local Development Framework 2007. 

 
 
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Proposed Submission July 2013 
• South Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Documents 
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• Planning File References: S/2046/14/FL 
 
Report Author:  Paul Sexton – Principal Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713255 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



5

7

10

Woodview Farm

Co Const & UA Bdy

Nursery

50.2m

Def

Depot

pring

Pond

45.2m

s
e

WB

12

48.8m

P
O

TT
O

N
R

O
AD

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:2500
Time of plot: 09:22 Date of plot: 11/02/2015

0 1 2 300m

© Crown copyright.

Page 37



Page 38

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 4 March 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/1504/13/FL 
  
Parish: Caxton 
  
Proposal: Residential Development (8 affordable 

dwellings and 2 market dwellings) 
  
Site address: Ermine Street, Caxton 
  
Applicant: Mr G and Mr D Brown and South Midlands 

Development Ltd 
  
Recommendation: Delegated Approval 
  
Key material considerations: Principle and criteria of Policy HG/5, 

residential amenity, setting of listed 
building, and highway safety 

  
Committee Site Visit: No 
  
Departure Application: Yes 
  
Presenting Officer: Paul Sexton 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The officer recommendation of delegated 

approval is contrary to the 
recommendation of refusal from Caxton 
Parish Council 

  
Date by which decision due: 30 October 2013 
 
  
 Site and Proposal 
  
1. Members may recall deferring this application at the April 2014 meeting, which at that 

time proposed 10 affordable dwellings, to enable a further housing needs survey to 
be carried out to identify the current demand for affordable homes in Caxton. 

 
2. This full application, as amended by drawings received 13 March 2014, now 

proposes the erection of 10 dwellings (comprising 8 affordable and 2 market units) on 
a 0.39ha area of paddock land to the east of Ermine Street, Caxton.  
 

3. To the south the site adjoins the side and rear gardens of properties in Ermine Street 
and at the very rear, Brockholt Road.  To the north is a detached cottage, beyond 
which is the Old Court House, a Grade II listed building.  To the rear of the site is 

Agenda Item 7

Page 39



paddock land. At the current time there is a line of planting across the rear section of 
the site. 

 
4. The development, as amended, proposes the erection of 3 x 1-bedroom, 4 x 2-

bedroom, and 1 x 3-bedroom affordable dwellings, and 2 x 3-bedroom market 
dwellings. 6 of the affordable dwellings are for rent and 2 for shared ownership. 
 

5. The development comprises the 2 market dwellings fronting Ermine Street, to the 
north of the new access roadway, with a 5 affordable units to the south (a pair of units 
and terrace of three). The access roadway extends into the rear section of the site to 
serve a terrace of 3 affordable dwellings in the east section of the site, and provide 
access to the land at the rear.  Two areas of open space are provided at the rear of 
the site. 
 

6. The dwellings will be brick, with a concrete interlocking tile roof, and have ridge 
heights between 7.8 and 8.1m.  Two parking spaces are provided for each dwelling.  
The dwellings have been designed to incorporate a CO2 reduction of 25% compared 
with Building Regulation requirements to provide homes designed under Code for 
Sustainable Homes Level 4. 

 
7. The application is accompanied by a Design and Access Statement, Heritage 

Statement, Affordable Housing Statement, Sustainability and Energy Statement, 
Open Space Statement and Ecological Appraisal. 

  
8. The site is outside the village framework but adjacent to it on its southern boundary.  
 

Planning History 
 
9. There is no relevant planning history on the application site. 

 
Policy 
 

10. National Planning Policy Framework 
Paragraph 54 provides advice in respect of rural exception sites. 

 
11. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy 

ST/7 – Infill Villages 
 
12. South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control 

Policies 
DP/1 – Sustainable Development 
DP/2 – Design of New Development 

 DP/3 – Development Criteria 
 DP/4 – Infrastructure and New Developments 
 DP/7 – Development Frameworks 
 HG/1 – Housing Density 
 HG/5 – Exception Sites for Affordable Dwellings 
 NE/1 – Energy Efficiency 
 NE/3 – Renewable Energy Technologies in New Development 
 NE/6 – Biodiversity  
 SF/10 – Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space and New Developments  

SF/11 – Open Space Standards 
CH/4 – Development Within the Curtilage or Setting of a Listed Building 
TR/2 – Car and Cycle Parking Standards 

 

Page 40



13. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 
Affordable Housing SPD 2010 
Open Space in New Developments SPD 2009 
District Design Guide SPD 2009 
Listed Buildings SPD 2009 
Biodiversity SPD 2009 
 

14. Draft Local Plan 
S/3 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 S/7 – Development Frameworks 
S/11 – Infill Villages 

 CC/3 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments 
 CC/8 – Sustainable Drainage System 
 HQ/1 – Design Principles 
 NH/4 – Biodiversity 
 NE/14 – Heritage Assets 
 H/7 – Housing Density 
 H/9 – Affordable Housing 
 H/10 – Rural Exception Site Affordable Housing 
 SC/7 – Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
 SC/8 – Open Space Standards 
 TI/3 – Parking Provision 
  

Consultation by South Cambridgeshire District Council as Local Planning 
Authority  
 

15. Caxton Parish Council – recommends refusal. 
 

“It is a non-linear development and is therefore out of character with this end of the 
village. 

 
The Parish Council recognises that the developers have gone to great lengths to try 
and match the requirements of the Housing Needs Survey, but have failed to do so, 
as they have not provided the correct mix of 1-bedroom, 2-bedroom and 3-bedroom 
dwellings for the social housing, as follows: 

 
One bedroom dwellings – Plans propose 3, instead of the Housing Needs Survey 
requirement of 4. 

 
Two bedroom dwellings – Plans propose 4, instead of the Housing Needs Survey 
requirement of 2. 

 
Three bedroom dwellings – Plans propose 1, instead of the Housing Needs Survey of 
2. 

 
By proposing two market houses, the developers are failing to fulfil the real need, by 
providing only 8 houses out of the 10 required by the HNS, and are instead providing 
additional two bedroom houses and market value houses. 

 
The exit comes out onto the main road at a pinch point on a very busy road where 
there is too much traffic already and the development would add to it. 

 
16. Housing Development Officer – comments that the proposed scheme of 8 

affordable dwellings consists of 6 rented and 2 shared ownership units. The agreed 

Page 41



mix is 3 x one-bedroom and 3 x two-bedroom house for social rent, and 1 x two-
bedroom and 1 x three house for shared ownership. 

 
17. The Housing Needs Survey, which was carried out in May 2014, found that there 

were 9 households in housing need and they need a mix of one and two-bedroom 
properties. 

 
18. Whilst the mix proposed by the housing association is not an exact reflection of the 

housing needs survey, it is however reasonable to expect the Housing Association to 
meet some one-bed need through two-bed provision. This is particularly the case for 
rural exception sites where long tenures are anticipated, and any risk of shortfall in 
rent due to welfare reform implications is borne by the housing association. 

 
19. The data on shared ownership has been checked with BPHA, the home buy agents, 

and they have advised that there are currently 2 households registered with them 
who have a local connection to Caxton. 

 
20. The scheme mix strikes a sensible balance between seeking to achieve a high 

proportion of local occupancy and economic viability for the housing association. 
 

21. The Housing Development Manager has advised that a scheme of up to 8 affordable 
dwellings could be supported. 
 

22. A Viability Appraisal Report prepared for the Council concludes that in this instance 
two market dwellings will be required in order to facilitate the provision of the eight 
additional affordable houses to meet local needs. 

 
23. Local Highway Authority – no objections, but confirms that it will not be adopting 

the any part of the development.  It requests conditions securing vehicular and 
pedestrian visibility splays, closure of the existing site access to the south, a Traffic 
Management Plan, improved footway link to the south, turning facilities, and 
construction of the access.  

 
24. Environmental Health – no comments received. 

 
25. Environment Agency – has no objection but sets out informatives to be included in 

any consent. 
 
26. Anglian Water – no objection subject to a condition requiring adherence to the 

surface water/flood risk assessment submitted with the application. 
 

27. Cambridgeshire Archaeology – comments that the site is an area of high 
archaeological potential and recommends that it is subject to a programme of 
archaeological investigation prior to commencement of development, which can be 
secured by condition. 

 
28. Architectural Liaison Officer (Cambridgeshire Constabulary) – has no issues 

with the layout of the site and general surveillance, but suggests that the eastern 
boundary of the site be secured by 1.8m high close boarded fencing. 
 

29. Ecology Officer – the field is clearly ancient ridge and furrow, which can be 
important for flora due to the unploughed nature of the soil, however the application is 
accompanied by an ecological statement which does not attach any significance to 
the sites flora, and having viewed the site its contents are accepted.  It is likely that 
the site’s flora has been reduced due to historic soil improvement and/or intense 

Page 42



grazing by horses.  The most important features are likely to be the boundary hedges 
and small clusters of trees, which should be retained.  If possible the opportunity to 
secure ecological enhancement of the remaining paddocks as compensatory 
measure should be sought. 

 
Representations 
 

30. Letters of opposition/concern in respect of the revised scheme have been received 
from the occupiers of Nos.160 and 176 Ermine Street. 

 
i. The revised scheme does not provide the type of housing identified in the 

recent needs survey. In considering the application previously members of the 
Planning Committee were clear that a survey needed to be carried out to 
identify housing types needed.  

 
Property Types Needs survey 

May 2014 
Housing Register 
December 2013 

Current Planning 
Proposal Jan 

2015 
1 bed homes 4 5 3 
2 bed homes 2 1 4 
2 bed bungalow 1   
3 bed homes 2 1 3 (2 for private 

sale) 
4 bed homes 1   
Totals 10 7 10 

 
ii. The Council’s Affordable Housing SPD states at 6.12 that ‘the housing mix 

and tenure split on rural exception sites will be determined by the particular 
local need identified in the village’. The application does not do this. 
 

iii. The inclusion of two market dwellings is contrary to the SPD para 6.14 which 
requires provision of affordable units in perpetuity, facilitated through a 
housing association. It is recognised that the NPPF now considers that market 
dwellings can be considered in order to bring forward affordable housing to 
meet local needs if it would ‘facilitate the provision of significant affordable 
housing to meet local needs.’ It is not believed that eight dwellings, with a mix 
that does not meet local need is ‘significant’, and SCDC has not yet adopted 
its policy on this matter. 

 
iv. Site not well related to the built-up area, and does not reflect existing liner 

form of development.  Development in depth is out of character – contrary to 
Policy HG/5 1c.  There are better sites in the village. 

 
v. There is another affordable housing scheme in the village for 7-10 houses, 

which is at the pre-application stage. This is on a brownfield site, and does not 
have the same constraints as the Ermine Street site. It is accessed of a much 
less busy road, and is closer to the village play facilities and village hall. 

 
vi. The site is not well related to existing services in the village.  There is no 

school, and is over 1km from the nearest LEAP, to reach which would involve 
crossing the A1198, which is still a dangerous road.  The proposal is therefore 
contrary to Policy HG/5 1d. 

 
vii. Will damage village character – ecological assessment does not mention that 

the site is currently ridge and furrow land, which is in decline, and which 

Page 43



English Heritage and DEFRA have been tasked with protecting. Given the 
proximity of the proposed West Cambourne development application (less 
than 400m from this site), it is imperative to retain as much green separation 
as possible to retain the rural character of the Caxton. The West Cambourne 
development would contain 30% affordable housing, with the necessary 
associated infrastructure. 

 
viii. The existing access is not to be used – the proposed access is at a pinch 

point specifically created to reduce speed on the A1198.  Will this be re-
created elsewhere? 

 
ix. The submitted drawings are deceptive. There are no trees or hedge line on 

the boundary with No.176, which sits in an elevated position, yet the 
elevations of Plot 1 show this building to be higher. Given the proximity to the 
boundary it will be very imposing. The boundary treatment listed is unclear. 
What will prevent car lights shining into the windows of No.176, and how will 
boundaries be securely fenced. 

 
x. The occupiers of 176 Ermine Way state that before they purchased the 

property SCDC advised it would be unlikely that the land to the south would 
be developed, and if it were development would follow the existing linear 
pattern.  The proposal contradicts that statement and if approved could set 
further precedents in the village.  

 
xi. Although the need for affordable housing is supported the application does not 

meet local need enough to balance the harm to the environment and rural 
character of the village. 

 
Planning Considerations 
 

 Principle of development and Policy HG/5 
 
31. The proposal would partly conflict with Policy DP/7 of the Local Development 

Framework which seeks to focus new housing within defined boundaries. The Council 
is currently unable to identify a five year supply of housing land and this policy cannot 
be considered to be up-to-date as far as it relates to the supply of housing land 
(Paragraph 49 of the NPPF). 
 

32. In this situation, the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) means that permission for development 
should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
Framework as a whole, or where specific policies indicate development should be 
restricted. 
 

33. Policy HG/5 accepts that, as an exception to the normal operation of the policies of 
the Development Plan, schemes of 100% affordable housing which are designed to 
meet identified local housing needs on small sites within or adjoining villages, can be 
granted so long as five criteria are met. 
 

34. Paragraph 54 of the NPPF states, in connection with rural exception sites, that Local 
Planning Authorities should consider whether allowing some market housing would 
facilitate the provision of significant additional affordable housing to meet local needs. 
 

Page 44



35. In response to the NPPF, Policy H/10 of the Draft Local Plan 2013 states that if 
viability appraisal demonstrate that a 100% affordable housing scheme is unviable, 
consideration will be given, in order or preference to either changing the tenure mix of 
the affordable homes and/or the application of any available public subsidy, or 
including the minimum market housing necessary to make the scheme viable and still 
remain an exception site. This policy can be given some weight as it accords with the 
NPPF advice, although objections were received during the Local Plan consultation 
process. 
 

36. The Housing Development Manager, having discussed the matter further with 
representatives of Cambridgeshire Acre who conducted the May 2014 Housing 
Needs Survey, has confirmed that the mix of affordable housing proposed is 
acceptable. The reasons for this are set out in paragraghs 16-21 above. 
 

37. The independent viability assessment carried out for the Council, has looked at 
market values, development costs, land values, and the need to achieve a 
‘reasonable return’. It has also taken into account the offer received from the Housing 
Association, which has confirmed its commitment to the development of this site. 
 

38. The conclusion is that the 2 market dwellings are justified in this case in order to bring 
the affordable housing forward, although officers have requested that a calculation is 
run with 8 affordable dwellings and 1 market unit, to confirm that the minimum level of 
market dwellings required is 2. 
 

39. The Housing Development Manager has confirmed that there is no scope to alter 
tenure mix in this case. 
 

40. Officers are of the view that the level of affordable housing provided is significant in 
this case, as it will meet the whole of the identified need for affordable housing in 
Caxton at the current time. The scheme remains 80% affordable. 
 

41. The application has been advertised as a departure from the approved development 
plan, but accords with the more recent advice in the NPPF. 
 

42. The applicant originally requested that the Council agrees to the inclusion of a 
Mortgage in Possession (MIP) Clause within any S106 Agreement. The Housing 
Association has been asked to provide an update on this position, and any further 
information on this point will be assessed. 
 

43. The third of the criteria requires the site to be well located to the built-up area of the 
village, and the scale of the scheme to be appropriate to the size and character of the 
village.  Caxton is classified as an infill village however schemes for exception sites 
for affordable housing of this scale have been consented in such villages and officers 
are therefore of the view that the scale of the scheme is appropriate is this respect. 
 

44. The site abuts the village framework on its south boundary, with additional 
development beyond the site to the north.  Officers are of the view that the site is well 
related to the built-up area of the village. 
 

45. The fourth of the criteria requires the site to be well related to facilities and services 
within the village.  Caxton is a village where services are limited, and its status as an 
infill village reflects this, although the public house has now re-opened, albeit as a 
restaurant.  The existing open space provision in the village is limited and some way 
from the site, although the site itself provides an area of open space at the rear.  For 
other services Caxton is reliant on adjoining villages, such as Cambourne. 

Page 45



 
46. The policy of allowing sites for affordable housing in villages for people in housing 

need in that particular village is an exception to the normal operation of the policies of 
the Local Development Framework and can result in a scale of development being 
permitted that is in excess of that which would normally be allowed, providing the 
scheme addresses the criteria in Policy HG/5. 
 

47. The fifth of the criteria requires that the development does not damage the character 
of the village or the rural landscape.  The existing site does form a gap between 
development at the edge of the village framework and the properties to the north.  
Existing development along Ermine Street is relatively linear in form, although to the 
south east of the site the housing in Brockholt Road extends further east in depth.  
The scheme as revised includes a terrace of three dwellings to the rear of the 
frontage development, in the east section of the site, but retains the frontage only 
form in the west part of the site.  Officers are of the view that although the present 
gap will be lost, views through the site to the countryside beyond will be retained at 
the point of access, and with use of appropriate materials and landscaping, are of the 
view that the development will not materially damage the character of the village or 
rural landscape.  
 

48. Concerns have been expressed about the possible future development of West 
Cambourne and the erosion of important space between Caxton and that site, if 
development of the Ermine Street site were to proceed. The current proposed plans 
for West Cambourne do not extend south of the line of the Caxton Bypass and buffer 
planning is proposed to the north of the Bypass. Officers do not consider that the 
erection of 10 dwellings in the Ermine Street site would significantly compromise the 
gap to the proposed site of West Cambourne. 
 
Residential amenity 
 

49. Officers are of the view that the scheme, as amended, will not have a significant 
direct effect on the amenity of adjacent residents in terms of overlooking, loss of light 
or overbearing impact, although it will result in a material change to the existing open 
character of the site.  The rear of the houses on Plots 8-10 are a minimum of 16m 
from the boundary with existing properties in Ermine Street and Brockholt Road.  
There is a secondary bedroom window at first floor level in the side elevation of Plots 
7, which faces existing properties in Ermine Street. This can be required to be 
obscure glazed and non-opening by condition. The north elevation of Plot 1, which 
faces No.176 Ermine Street, contains no first floor windows, and a condition can be 
included in any consent to prevent the creation of openings in the future.  Appropriate 
boundary fencing will be required, but solid fencing will be required along part of the 
north and south boundaries to protect neighbour amenity. 

 
Setting of Listed Building 
 

50. The Old Courthouse, now occupied as a dwelling, is an important 19th Century listed 
building at the north end of Caxton.  At the present time, although the building is not 
immediately adjacent the site, views are afforded of its south elevation, across the 
application site, when approaching from the south.  These views will be partly lost as 
a result of the proposed development along the site frontage.  Development in depth 
within the site has been kept to the southern part of the site, away from the listed 
building, and the layout form was the subject of discussion with the Conservation 
Officer before the plans considered at the April 2014 meeting, The principle of the 
layout has not changed from that time. There will be some harm to the setting of the 

Page 46



listed building which will need to be balanced against the public benefits of the 
proposal.   
 

51. In this case officers are of the view that the benefit of the provision of the affordable 
housing outweighs the harm to the setting of the listed building, although more 
traditional roofing materials should be used than the concrete tiles currently 
suggested, so that they are more compatible with listed building.    
 
Highway safety and parking 
 

52. The Local Highway Authority has not objected to the application, which demonstrates 
that safe access can be provided to the site.  Conditions suggested by the Highway 
Authority can be included in any consent. Adequate off-street parking is provided 
 
Other matters 
 

53. The Ecology Officer has not objected to the application, and the requirement of 
Cambridgeshire Archaeology for an archaeological investigation can be dealt with by 
condition.  Foul and surface water drainage details can be conditioned. 
 

54. The open space proposed should be secured by Section 106 Agreement. The 
applicant has submitted a draft Heads of Terms recognising the need for 
contributions under Polices DP/4 and SF/10 in respect of community facilities, public 
open space and the need to secure the affordable housing.  The application is 
compliant with the Council’s policy in respect of renewable energy requirements. 
 

55. Although there is local comment about there being better sites in the village for 
affordable housing, there are none currently before the Council for consideration, and 
Members must consider this site on its merits. 

 
 Conclusion 
  
56. As this application is being considered as a rural exception site officers are of the 

view that the application still falls to be considered against that policy, and the advice 
in paragraph 54 of the NPPF.  

 
57. Officers are of the view that the proposed affordable dwellings are in line with the 

2014 survey and meet the identified needs of the village. The need for two market 
dwellings as part of the scheme has been justified by the viability appraisal, subject to 
confirmation that two, rather than one market dwellings are required. 

 
58. Any adverse impacts of the development are not considered to significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the material 
considerations set out in this report, and the proposed development remains 
acceptable. 

 
59. It is recommended that subject to the confirmation in respect of the viability 

assessment referred to above, and the prior signing of a Section 106 Agreement, that 
officers are granted delegated powers to approve subject to conditions. 

 
Recommendation 

  
60. Approval subject to:. 

 
  

Page 47



S106 requirements  
  

A scheme for affordable housing 
 
Conditions (to include) 
 
Time limit – 3 years 
List of approved plans 
External Materials 
Landscaping/Boundary treatment 
Surface water drainage 
Highway conditions as proposed by the LHA 
Restrict hours of operation of power driven machinery 
Archaeological investigation 
No further openings – first floor – north elevation Plot 1 and south elevation Plot 7 
Fixed and obscure glazing – first floor – south elevation Plot 7 
Renewable energy and water conservation 
 

 
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Proposed Submission July 2013 
• South Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Documents 
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• Planning File References: S/1504/13/FL 
 
Report Author:  Paul Sexton – Principal Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713255 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



110

TASKER'S FIELD

10

7

1
3

Sewage

108

Pumping
Sta

24

1

BROCKHOLT

D
ra

in

R
O

A
D

158
160

154

12

P
at

h
(u

m
)

18

7

Sub Sta

1 2
1

11
9

49.9m

15

MS

El

13

S
helter

A
llotm

ent

55.2m

140

LB

138

G
ardens

TCB

130

(Track)

House
Court

62.2m

Depot

61.1m

176

The Old

Track

54.1m

ELTISLEY LANE

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:2500
Time of plot: 09:18 Date of plot: 11/02/2015

0 1 2 300m

© Crown copyright.

Page 49



Page 50

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 4 March 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/2186/14/FL 
  
Parish: Caldecote 
  
Proposal: Change of use of existing annex to create 

independent 3 bedroom dwelling 
  
Site address: Westwind, Highfields Road, Highfields  

Caldecote 
  
Applicant(s): Mr D Baldwin 
  
Recommendation: Delegated Approval 
  
Key material considerations: Principle of Development 

Design 
Amenity 
Highway Safety 

  
Committee Site Visit: No 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: John Koch 
  
Application brought to Committee because: Parish Council recommendation of refusal 

conflicts with Officers recommendation 
  
Date by which decision due: 28 November 2014 
 

 
 Site and Proposal 
 
1. The site comprises a 0.35 ha parcel of land to the north of Highfields Caldecote, 

approximately 150m beyond the Development Framework.  The site consists of part 
of the garden land to Westwind, a large bungalow, and includes a single storey 
building currently used as a residential annex to the main dwelling. 

 
2. The residential annex that is the subject of this application is to the north of the main 

dwelling with its own access via Highfields Road.  The site is well screened from 
Highfields Road by established informal planting, including small trees and hedging.  

 
3. The annex originally was used at only ground floor level for the applicant’s mother 

and included a kitchen, bedsitting room and bathroom.  The remainder of the space 
was used for garden storage.  Since planning permission was granted alterations 

Agenda Item 8

Page 51



have been made to the building, which include the insertion of roof lights and the 
conversion of the roof space to provide additional accommodation. 

 
4. The annex has a ridge height of approximately 5m and height to the eaves of 2.2m.   

It comprises a footprint of 10m x 14m, including the space used as a logging area.  It 
is constructed of brick and interlocking concrete tiles with timber boarding to the gable 
end.  All external doors and windows are white UPVC.   

 
5. The application seeks planning permission for the change of use of the annex to a 

three bedroom independent dwelling. 
 

Planning History 
 

6. S/1394/12/VC - Variation of condition (S/0593/07/F) to allow garden room and store 
to be used as an annex - Approved 
 

7. S/0593/07/F - Garden room and store – Approved 
 

 Planning Policies 
 
8. National Planning Policy Framework (Adopted March 2012). 

 
9. Local Development Framework Development Core Strategy (Adopted January 

2007) 
ST/6 Group Villages (Highfields Caldecote) 

 
10. Local Development Framework Development Control Policies (Adopted July 

2007) 
DP/1 Sustainable Development  
DP/2 Design of new Development  
DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/4 Infrastructure and New Developments 
DP/7 Development Frameworks 
SF/10 Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
TR/1 Planning for more Sustainable Travel 

 
11. Local Plan (Proposed Submission Version (July 2013) 

S/3 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
S/7 Development Frameworks 
S/10 Group Villages 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
SC/7 Outdoor play space, informal open space and new developments 

 
12. Supplementary Planning Documents 

District Design Guide SPD (adopted March 2010) 
 
 Consultations 
  
13. Caldecote Parish Council recommends refusal (albeit no reasons given). 

 
14. The Local Highways Authority (HA) requested that a plan is provided showing the 

visibility splays prior to determination of the application.  It is considered by the HA 
that the proposal should have no significant impact on the public highway subject to 
the required visibility splays and incorporation of conditions. 

 

Page 52



15. The Contaminated Land Officer has considered the implications of the proposal and 
is satisfied that a condition relating to contaminated land investigation is not required.  

 
16. Environmental Health Officer – No comments received. 

  
 Representations 
  
17. None have been received.  
 
 Planning Comments 
 
 Principle of Development 
  
18. The proposed development seeks approval for a new dwelling outside of any defined 

Settlement Boundary.  The proposal would conflict with Policy DP/7 of the Local 
Development Framework which seeks to focus new housing within defined 
boundaries.  However, as the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a 5 year 
supply of housing land, this policy cannot be considered to be up-to-date as far as it 
relates to the supply of housing land (Paragraph 49 of the NPPF). 

 
19. In this situation, the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) means that permission for development 
should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
Framework as a whole, or where specific policies indicate development should be 
restricted..  The NPPF identifies three dimensions of sustainable development: 
economic; social; and environmental, and indicates that gains should be sought for 
each in unison.   

 
20. Although outside the Development Framework, the proposed development comprises 

the change of use of an existing building situated between the host dwelling and a 
mobile home park. 

 
21. The site is located approximately 160m from the development framework of 

Highfields Caldecote, which is identified as a Group Village where residential 
development of up to 8 dwellings is supported allowing some of the basic day-to-day 
requirements of their residents to be met without the need to travel outside the village. 

 
22. Whilst not adjacent to the application site, these facilities are accessible from the 

development on foot via lit footpaths and by cycle.  The nearest bus stop is 
approximately 200m from the site with a regular service to Cambridge town centre. 
The Committee will also recall planning permission being granted for four dwellings 
on the site next to Casa-de-Foseta on St Neots Road and further away from the 
village back in November 2013 when it was considered the site was in a sustainable 
location.  

 
23. The proposal is therefore not considered to amount to a wholly isolated development 

in the countryside, and would be consistent with the NPPF principle that rural housing 
should be located where it will maintain or enhance the vitality of rural communities. 

 
24. The proposal would also add to the range of housing available in the locality, make a 

modest but positive contribution to the overall supply of housing, and provide some 
short-term economic benefits through its construction. 

 

Page 53



25. Taking these matters into account it is considered that the proposal would constitute a 
sustainable form of development as defined in paragraph 7 of the NPPF. 

 
26. A draft heads of terms that covers the required contributions towards community 

facilities, public open space and waste receptacles for the proposed three bedroom 
dwelling has been agreed with the applicant.   
 
Design 

 
27. The application site comprises a spacious plot with the existing annex building set 

back from Highfields Road.  The annex is well screened in this direction through 
established planting.  To the north of the site is an established mobile home park and 
to the south the host dwelling known as Westwind. 

 
28. The proposal would comprise the change in use of a single storey annex building to 

provide a three bed independent dwelling.  No external changes are proposed as part 
of the application and it is considered that the scheme is acceptable in terms of 
design and would not unduly impact upon the character of the surrounding area. 

 
29. The proposal also provides sufficient private amenity space for the sizes of both the 

existing and proposed dwelling. 
 

Amenity 
 
30. The site has adjacent neighbours to the north (mobile home park) and the host 

dwelling to the south.  The annex is positioned in the centre of a spacious plot and 
would have no impact upon light for the host dwelling at Westwind or the mobile 
home park.  The proposal is unlikely to impact upon privacy for the neighbouring 
properties as the proposal is limited to single storey construction with only roof lights 
proposed to first floor accommodation. 

 
31. There have been no neighbour objections in response to the application.  The 

application site is bounded to the north by established planting and the annex building 
is sufficiently distanced from the host dwelling to ensure no detrimental impact on 
amenity would occur as a result of the proposed development. 

 
Highway Safety 

 
32. The Local Highway Authority requested that the applicant provide a drawing showing 

the required visibility splays which should have the dimensions of 2.4m by 43m as 
measured from along the nearside edge of the carriageway provided on both sides of 
the access. 

 
33. The applicants have provided a drawing to illustrate visibility splays on drawing no. 

PAS/BAL/04 Rev. A.  The plan shows the required splays can be provided without the 
loss of the established planting to the front of the site, although the existing hedgerow 
would be trimmed back as necessary to achieve the visibility as proposed. 

 
34. It is therefore considered the proposal would provide a suitable access whereby 

drivers could pull onto and out of the drive safely. 
 
Other Matters 
 

35. The parish council has not provided any reason for its objection. The case officer has 
asked for a reason, but no response has been received.  

Page 54



 
Conclusion  
 

36. Any adverse impacts of the development are not considered to significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the material 
considerations set out in this report, and the proposed development remains 
acceptable. 

 
37. As such it is recommended that permission be granted for officers to approve the 

scheme subject to the completion of a S106 legal agreement securing contributions 
towards open space, community facilities, waste receptacles and monitoring and 
legal fees, and the conditions outlined below. 
 

 Recommendation 
 

38. Approval subject to prior completion of S106 agreement. 
 

 S106 requirements  
  

A scheme for contributions towards community facilities, open space and waste 
receptacles will need to be agreed prior to issuing a decision notice.  
  

 Conditions  
   
 (a) Timescale 
 (b) Approved Plans 

(c) Highways – retention of visibility splays 
  
 
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy (adopted January 

2007) 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

adopted July 2007)) 
• Planning Reference File: S/2186/14/FL. 
 
Report Author: Jemima Dean – Planning Consultant 

Telephone: (01362) 656250 
 
 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is left blank intentionally.



H
IG

H
F

IE
LD

S
R

O
A

D

Westwind Highfield Farm

Cottage

15
10

14
12

11

17

6

5

9

19

25

16

18

27

8

20

23

22
7

Leylands

3a

4

24

2a

2

3

Highfields
Court

21

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:1250
Time of plot: 10:03 Date of plot: 23/02/2015

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 150m

© Crown copyright.

Page 57



Page 58

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 4 March 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/2646/14/FL 
  
Parish(es): Girton 
  
Proposal: Demolition of bungalow and erection of 2 

storey house 
  
Site address: 65 Cambridge Road  
 Girton 

 
Applicant(s): Mr K Castro Ltd 
  
Recommendation: Delegated Approval 
  
Key material considerations: Principle of Development 

Visual Impact 
Residential Amenity 
Highway Safety 

  
Committee Site Visit: No 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: John Koch 
  
Application brought to Committee because: Parish Council recommendation of refusal 

conflicts with Officers recommendation 
  
Date by which decision due: 30 December 2014 
 
  

Planning History 
 

1. The site has been subject of a pre-application discussion and application for a similar 
scheme S/1629/14/FL which was withdrawn.   
 

2. This application was deferred at the February 2015 meeting for a Committee site visit. 
 

 Planning Policies 
 
3. National Planning Policy Framework (Adopted March 2012) 

 
4. Local Development Framework Core Strategy 2007 

ST/3 re-Using previously Developed Land and Buildings 
ST/6 Group Villages  

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 59



5. Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 2007 
DP/1 Sustainable Development  
DP/2 Design of new Development  
DP/3 Development Criteria 
DP/4 Infrastructure and New Development  
DP/7 Development Frameworks 
HG/1 Housing Density 
HG/2 Housing Mix 
NE/1 Energy Efficiency 
SF/10 Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
TR/1 Planning for more Sustainable Travel 
TR/2 Car and Cycle Parking Standards 

 
6. Supplementary Planning Documents 

District Design Guide SPD (adopted March 2010) 
 
 Consultations 
  
7. Girton Parish Council recommends refusal.  The amended application is similar to 

the previous application to which the Parish Council objected.  The amended 
application has not addressed the issue of overshadowing, there is no recommended 
frosted glass or re-siting of the side windows and the change from a 2 bed bungalow 
to a 4 bed house is a significant change and the size would be out of keeping with the 
street scene. 

 
8. The Local Highways Authority has no objections, subject to conditions controlling 

visibility splays, surface water drainage, and bound materials for the access drive. 
 

9. Environmental Health Officer recommends safeguarding conditions and 
informatives regarding hours of working. 
 
Representations 
 

10. Letters of objection have been received from the immediate neighbour to the north 
and the two immediate neighbours to the south raising the following concerns; 
 
(I) Proposed dwelling is too large for the plot, footprint larger than existing footprint, 
proposed dwelling extends further back into plot 
(ii) Adverse impact on neighbouring properties due to loss of light, overlooking, loss of 
privacy. 
(iii) Design too contemporary; materials inappropriate 
(iv) Close proximity to boundary hedge 
(v) Lack of on-site turning 
(vi) Home Office could be used for business which would result in increased traffic 

  
 Planning Comments 
  
11. The site is located within the village development framework for Girton and currently 

comprises a detached prefabricated 2 bedroom bungalow.  Access to the site is direct 
from Cambridge Road with parking within the front garden for 1 car. 

 
12. Adjoining the site to the north is a pair of two-storey semi-detached dwellings.  To the 

south is a detached bungalow and to the rear residential properties fronting Redgate 
Road. 

 

Page 60



13. The general character of the area is residential.  The surrounding properties comprise 
mainly two-storey detached dwellings with a variety of designs. 

 
14. The proposal seeks to demolish the bungalow and replace it with a 4 bedroom two 

storey dwelling.  Two car parking spaces would be provided within the front garden.  
The application is supported by a sunlight and daylight assessment. 

 
15. The proposal, as amended, is the resubmission of a previous application which was 

withdrawn.  A first floor projection adjacent the northern boundary has been omitted.  
 

Principle of Development 
 
16. The NPPF advises that every effort should be made to identify and then meet the 

housing needs of an area, and respond positively to wider opportunities for growth. 
Additionally the Development Plan (Core Strategy Development Plan Document 
adopted January 2007 and Development Control Policies Development Plan adopted 
January 2007) identifies Girton as a 'Group Village’ where the construction of new 
residential dwellings within the framework is supported. This is subject to other 
detailed considerations. 
 

17. The proposed development would have been acceptable in principle having regard to 
adopted LDF and emerging Local Plan policies, had policies ST/5 and DP/7 not 
become out of date as a consequence of the Council not currently being able to 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.  

 
18. A draft heads of terms that covers the required contributions towards community 

facilities, public open space and waste receptacles for the proposed two bedroom 
dwelling has been agreed with the applicant. 

 
Visual Impact 
 

19. The dwelling types along this part of Cambridge Road are predominantly two storey 
and therefore the introduction of a two storey dwelling in place of a bungalow would 
not be out of character with the general appearance of the area.  The siting of the 
proposed dwelling is very similar to that of the bungalow and would not extend 
forward of the line of the dwellings on either side, the new dwelling not would 
therefore be unduly visually intrusive.  The eaves height of the proposed dwelling is 
similar to the neighbouring two storey dwelling, although the lower pitch would ensure 
the overall ridge height is lower and helps to provide a transition between the single 
storey and two storey dwellings either side.  

 
20. The proposal is for a contemporary design.  The main body of the dwelling would be 

rendered and includes timber boarding and a brick chimney.  There is no strong 
distinctive architectural character in the immediate vicinity of the site.  There is a 
broad range of architectural styles and a broad pallet of materials and as such a 
contemporary design would not be at odds with the form and character of the area. 

 
Residential Amenity  
 

21. The proposed dwelling would be positioned in between two existing dwellings.  In 
terms of the impact on amenity of the adjacent property to the north (no 63) the 
proposal would be 5.2m from the side wall of the adjacent house and therefore there 
is an adequate degree of separation between the two properties. 

 

Page 61



22. The current application has been revised to omit a two storey rear projection in order 
to reduce the overshadowing of no 63.  A daylight assessment submitted with the 
application has concluded that in terms of loss of daylight the impact of the 
development would not be detrimental to the windows to the front and rear of the 
property. Officers do not dispute these conclusions. 
 

23. The sunlight/overshadowing assessment does acknowledge that there would be an 
increased level of overshadowing and loss of sunlight associated with the 
development and that the loss would occur during the winter months when the sun is 
at its lowest level.  The assessment identifies that between April and July the 
overshadowing would not be materially different at midday than at present. Between 
October and January, however, the shadow would be extended increasingly over the 
rear garden towards the rear kitchen window. While the assessment does not detail 
other months, there would be some additional shadowing of the kitchen window.  
 

24. Members will note from the site visit that part of the rear garden is already 
overshadowed by a high (in excess of 2m) hedge. 
 

25. From the above it is considered there would be an increase in overshadowing of the 
part of the neighbour’s rear garden during the winter months. Due to the orientation of 
the rear kitchen window which faces more or less south, overshadowing during the 
winter months would be confined to between the hours of approximately 9 a.m. and 
midday.  As a matter of fact and degree, officers have concluded this would not have 
a significant adverse impact on the amenities of the property. 
 

26. In terms of impact on amenity to the existing bungalow to the south (no 67) the 
proposed dwelling would be 2.2m from the bungalow.  The proposed dwelling does 
extend beyond the rear wall of no 6, however this part of the dwelling would be single 
storey.  The two storey element of the proposed dwelling is similar to the depth of the 
existing property and is in line with what was the rear of the existing bungalow on the 
site.  The proposal is therefore unlikely to have a significant overbearing impact on 
the adjacent bungalow. 
 

27. The neighbouring bungalow has two side windows which face north towards the 
proposed development.  Both these windows are secondary windows serving a dining 
room and bedroom.  Both these rooms have large primary windows which face the 
front and rear of the property. 
 

28. The view out of these side windows and the natural light into the room is currently 
limited due to the close proximity of the existing bungalow and orientation facing 
north.  It is considered that the proposal is unlikely result in significantly adverse loss 
of natural light or view above or beyond what is currently experienced. The daylight 
and sunlight assessment accompanying the proposal demonstrate that the proposal 
would not have an adverse impact on the neighbours at no 67 in terms of loss of light. 
 

29. In terms of privacy, the dwelling has been designed so as not to result in overlook 
from the first floor windows.  The first floor windows in the gable serve bathrooms and 
therefore would be glazed using obscure glazing.  In addition the opening lights are 
above eye level.  A condition cab be imposed to ensure these windows are glazed 
with obscure glass and designed with a top hung opening light only. 
 

30.  There is a satisfactory degree of separation between the proposed dwelling and the 
existing properties to the rear of the site to provide an adequate amount of privacy.  
The proposed dwelling is positioned and orientated to safeguard the private area 
immediately to the rear of the adjoining properties either side, although it is accepted 

Page 62



that the end of these gardens would be overlooked.  However, it is considered that 
the loss of privacy would affect a relatively small area and is not so significant such 
that a refusal of planning permission on the grounds of loss of privacy would be 
justified. 

 
31. The proposed home office is a small room with no independent means of access.  

 
32. On balance it is considered that whilst the proposal will impact on neighbour amenity, 

this would not result in a significant adverse impact such that a refusal of planning 
permission would be justified. 

 
33. Given the concerns raised regarding the scale of the development and the proximity 

of the neighbouring properties it is considered that permitted development rights for 
further extensions should be attached to safeguard neighbour amenity. Conditions will 
also be attached to ensure the neighbours’ amenities are also safeguarded during the 
construction phase. 

 
Highway Safety 
 

34. The Local Highways Authority has no objections to the development subject to certain 
conditions. The proposal includes one additional parking space to the front of the 
main dwelling.  The Highway Authority has not raised an objection to the proposal in 
terms of the amount of parking spaces or lack of onsite turning and therefore a 
recommendation of refusal of planning permission on the grounds of inadequate off 
road parking and turning cannot be justified. 

 
Conclusion  
 

35. Any adverse impacts of the development are not considered to significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the material 
considerations set out in this report, and the proposed development remains 
acceptable. As such it is recommended that permission be granted for officers to 
approve the scheme subject to the completion of a S106 legal agreement securing 
contributions towards open space, community facilities, waste receptacles and 
monitoring and legal fees, and the conditions outlined below. 
 

 Recommendation 
 

36. Delegated approval subject to: 
 

 S106 requirements  
  

A scheme for contributions towards community facilities, open space and waste 
receptacles will need to be agreed prior to issuing a decision notice.  
  

 Conditions  
   
 (a) Approved Plans 
 (b) Timescale 
 (c) Materials  
 (d) Obscure glazing to first floor windows in side elevations  
 (e) Power operated machinery and other conditions and informatives. 
 (f)  Removal of householder permitted development rights regarding classes, A, B 

 C, D & E. 
 

Page 63



Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy (adopted January 

2007) 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

(adopted January 2007) 
• District Design Guide SPD (adopted March 2010) 
• Planning Reference Files : S/2646/14/FL and S/1629/14/FL 
 
Report Author:  Viv Bebbington – Senior Planning Officer 
 Telephone: 01362 656252 
 
 

Page 64



88

14

R
E

D
G

A
T

E
R

O
A

D

18

Jansen

32

10

9

El Sub Sta

Peacocks

30a

26

20

Highfields

The
Vines
The

59

1

13

MARK'S WAY

22

2

1

2

1

2a

81a

83

Swallows

The

2

80

76
74

78

67

ROAD

REDGATE

22.3m

7

CLOSE

7

30

LB

77

71

WHITEGATE

C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E

R
O

A
D

49

O
S

E

48

46
a

46

36

Hall

25

32

54

8

1

58

4

70
68

61

1

STERNDALE CLOSE

10

2

8

4

21

14

35

39

36

86

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:1250
Time of plot: 11:05 Date of plot: 26/01/2015

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 150m

© Crown copyright.

Page 65



Page 66

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 4 March 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/3038/14/FL 
  
Parish(es): Great Abington 
  
Proposal: Detached three-bedroom dwelling 
  
Site address: 23 South Road, Great Abington, Cambs 
  
Applicant(s): Mr & Mrs Johnson 
  
Recommendation: Refusal 
  
Key material considerations: Principle of development, sustainability, 

character of area 
  
Committee Site Visit: Yes 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: Lorraine Casey 
  
Application brought to Committee because: Referral to Committee has been requested 

by District Councillor David Bard 
  
Date by which decision due: 4 March 2015 
 
 
 

Planning History 
 

1. S/1013/85/F – Extension – approved. 
 

2. S/0683/86/F – Extensions – approved. 
 

Planning Policies 
 
3. National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
 
4. Local Development Framework 2007 
 

DP/1: Sustainable Development 
DP/2: Design of New Development 
DP/3: Development Criteria 
DP/4: Infrastructure and New Developments 
DP/7: Development Frameworks 
SF/10: Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space and New Developments 

Agenda Item 10

Page 67



SF/11: Open Space Standards 
TR/1: Planning for More Sustainable Travel 
TR/2: Car and Cycle Parking Standards 
Open Space in New Developments SPD 
District Design Guide SPD 

 
5. Draft Local Plan 2013 

 
S/1: Vision 
S/2: Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/5: Provision of New Jobs and Homes 
S/7: Development Frameworks 
HQ/1: Design Principles 
H/15: Development of Residential Gardens 
SC/6: Indoor Community Facilities 
SC/7: Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
SC/8: Open Space Standards 
TI/2: Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3: Parking Provision 

 
Consultations 

 
6. Great Abington Parish Council – Recommends approval “as this application is in-line 

with proposed policy set out within the LDF (on p 146) under review by the Inspector.” 
 

7. The Local Highways Authority – Raises no objections. 
 

8. The Environmental Health Officer – Raises no objections providing the following 
conditions/informatives being added to any consent: 
 
• Restriction of hours of use of power-operated machinery during the construction 

period. 
• Details of any driven pile foundations. 
• No bonfires or burning of waste during construction. 

 
Representations 

 
9. District Councillor Bard has confirmed his support for the application, stating the 

following: 
 
“I have been asked to represent the applicants Mr. & Mrs. Johnson on behalf of the 
local member, Cllr. Orgee as he is personally acquainted with the Johnsons. 
 
I gather that you are proposing to refuse this application under delegated powers on 
the ground that approval would result in a dwelling in an unsustainable location.  I 
visited the site on 23rd January and it was fairly obvious that in addition to the 
dwellings associated with the former land settlement, most of which have been 
considerably extended, a number of new dwellings have been created by conversion 
of former farm buildings. This impression is confirmed by a brief search. Six 
applications, mostly involving farm building conversions have been approved since 
2010.  
 
S/2086/14/FL involved the construction of a completely new building and though it is 
described as a ‘live work unit’ is surely subject to similar sustainability considerations 

Page 68



as the present application.  A further application (S/2320/14/FL) is currently the 
subject of an appeal, yet to be determined. It is difficult to reconcile the claim that this 
site is unsustainable with this steady trickle of approvals over the last five years. 
 
The site is less than 2 km from a major employment site (Granta Park) and about 3.5 
km from another (Babraham Institute), both of which are accessible by safe cycle 
routes. The distance to the Southern end of Gt Abington High Street is 1.6 km . These 
distances are considerably less than those claimed by County officers to be 
reasonable and realistic for cycle commuting in justification of their ambitious 
cycleway programme. The applicant has, I gather, offered to contribute towards safe 
cycle storage at the nearest bus stop.  
 
The assessment of ‘sustainability’ is largely a matter of judgement, as is consistency 
with previous permissions granted on neighbouring sites. For that reason I request 
that this application be referred for determination to Planning Committee and that 
prior to this, there should be a member site visit.” 

 
10. 6 letters of support have been received from residents of Nos. 20, 34, 35, 36, 37 

South Road and No.8 Chalky Road. These responses confirm that the old piggery for 
No.23 was sited to the east of the existing house near to the other outbuildings, and 
support the application to build a house in this location. 
 

11. 2 objections have been received (no addresses supplied for either). The main 
concerns raised are as follows: 
 
• The erection of a house on this site would open the floodgates for every other 

house on the land settlement to build on their land. The infrastructure could not 
support this. The village school is over-subscribed and the road is not suited for 
such an increase in development in the area. 

• Upgrading the existing property to insert a lift would appear to be more cost-
effective than building a new dwelling. 

• There is currently no building on the site. Although there are letters confirming 
there was previously a piggery on the site, they were very sturdy structures and 
unlikely to have been in danger of collapse. 

 
Planning Comments 
 
Site and Proposal 

 
12. No.23 South Road is a detached dwelling that was originally constructed in the 1930’s 

and extended in the 1980’s. It lies outside the defined village framework within the 
Great Abington Land Settlement Association area. The site forms part of the 
residential curtilage on the east side of the dwelling and comprises a single-storey 
timber outbuilding that currently provides garaging and storage for the dwelling. 
 

13. The application proposes to erect a detached three-bedroom dwelling within the 
existing garden land on the east side of the existing property. The proposed dwelling 
would be set back from the road in a similar position to No.23. It would be 6.9 metres 
high to the ridge and 3.6 metres high to the eaves, and would comprise three floors of 
accommodation (including a basement), with materials consisting of stained 
weatherboarding walls under a clay plain tile roof. The existing outbuilding would be 
retained and used in association with the proposed dwelling for the storage of bins, 
bikes and garden equipment etc. The existing vehicular access would be shared 
between the existing and proposed dwellings, and parking spaces provided within the 

Page 69



curtilage of each property. A new post-and-rail fence and hedgerow would be planted 
to subdivide the gardens of the two properties. 
 

14. A supporting statement explains that the Abington Land Settlement was set up in 
1937, and comprised around sixty holdings, each with about 10 acres, a small house 
and a piggery in its curtilage. In the 1980’s, the houses and land were sold off and the 
roads became private roads jointly owned by the landowners. Many of the houses 
have subsequently been extended and some additional outbuildings, such as stables 
and horticultural buildings, added.  
 

15. No.23 has been extended over time to become a five-bedroomed family home. The 
proposal is to build a house on the site of the former piggery, which was demolished 
some years ago as it was collapsing and unsafe. The applicants state that the 
proposed dwelling sits on the same building line as the houses in the area and 
reflects the character of the original houses and surrounding agricultural buildings. 
The proposed dwelling is designed to enable the applicants to live an independent life 
and incorporates wide doorways and the facility to put in a lift. It would also be 
insulated to a high standard and incorporate solar panels for electricity generation, 
rainwater recycling and a ground source heat pump. 

 
Principle of development 

 
16. The site lies outside the defined village framework of Great Abington. The erection of 

a dwelling in this location would be contrary to adopted LDF Policy DP/7 and the 
emerging Local Plan Policy S/7 which state that, outside frameworks, only 
development for agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation and other uses 
that need to be located in the countryside will be permitted. 

 
17. The information accompanying the application explains that, following the 

Waterbeach appeal decisions in June 2014, the Council does not have a 
demonstrable five-year housing land supply, that the Local Plan is out-of-date and 
that the application should therefore be determined in accordance with the NPPF. 

 
18. The Council acknowledges that it cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply of 

deliverable housing. The NPPF states that, in such instances, policies for the supply 
of housing cannot be considered up-to-date. Paragraph 14 makes it clear that, where 
the development plan is out-of-date, permission should be granted unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole or 
specific policies indicate development should be restricted. 
 
Sustainable development 
 

19. Whilst there is a demonstrable housing need in the District, Local Plan policies and 
the NPPF make it clear that new housing must be provided in a sustainable manner 
and considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The supporting text to Policies DP/7 and S/7 explain that it is necessary 
to define village frameworks in order to ensure that the countryside is protected from 
gradual encroachment and to help guard against incremental growth in unsustainable 
locations. Whilst weight cannot presently be given to the framework boundaries, it 
remains the case that the proposed dwelling lies in an isolated location and would 
compromise the principles of promoting sustainable development and protecting the 
countryside from encroachment. 
 
 

Page 70



20. The applicants have submitted supporting information which states that, in their 
opinion, the site is in a sustainable location. It lies within a community of around 60 
houses approximately 2.5km away from the village centre and 1.6km from the 
Pampisford Road bus stop (from which there is a half-hourly service to Haverhill and 
Cambridge, including access to the doctor’s surgery in Linton). Granta Park is 2.2km 
away and accessible by cycle, and it is argued that the network of roads forming the 
Land Settlement area provide a safe environment for cyclists. Furthermore, there is a 
post box with daily collections, newspapers are delivered to a pick-up point on South 
Road, there is a milkman, eggs, library stop for 30 minutes on North Road (650m 
from the house) and refuse collections that are carried out on the same schedule as 
the rest of the village.  
 

21. Officers consider that the arguments put forward by the applicants in support of the 
application very much demonstrate how unsustainable the site is. Great Abington, the 
centre of which is 2.5km from the site, is designated as a Group Village. Villages in 
this category have a limited level of services and facilities allowing only some of the 
basic day-to-day requirements of their residents to be met without needing to travel 
outside the village. Great Abington has a primary school, local shop, pub and 
hairdressers but residents are required to travel further afield for facilities such as 
doctors and dentists (Linton) or village colleges/further education (Linton, Sawston or 
Cambridge). Additionally, the roads in the Land Settlement Association are shared 
between pedestrians and vehicles, and have no street lighting. The combination of 
the lack of well-lit footpaths and cycleways together with the distance of the site from 
the village centre and nearest bus stop means that, in all likelihood, residents would 
be likely to rely on the private car to access local services and facilities. It is therefore 
considered that the proposal would conflict with one of the undermining principles of 
sustainable development, namely minimising the need to travel and reducing car 
dependency.  

 
Impact on character of the area 
 

22. Notwithstanding the above concerns, it is also considered that the proposed 
development would harm the rural character and appearance of the area. No.23 
South Road consists of one of around 60 houses in the Land Settlement area, 
dwellings that were set up in the late 1930’s as smallholdings. Whilst a number of the 
dwellings have been significantly extended over time, and some outbuildings 
converted to form annexes/habitable accommodation, the character of the Land 
Settlement is overwhelmingly one of detached houses set within significant plot sizes, 
with a relatively even spacing between dwellings. Whilst an Inspector has previously 
commented that the area is ‘characterised by a density and regularity of housing that 
is not typical of the countryside’, Officers would argue that the low density and degree 
of spacing between houses is not consistent with an urban, built-up area and that the 
Estate could therefore be argued to be semi-rural in character. 

 
23. Whilst the proposed dwelling has been designed on the same building line as nearby 

properties and is similar in scale and design, the proposal would result in a smaller 
plot size and more cramped form of development (in terms of average spacing 
between dwellings) than is typical of the area. Additionally, if the application is 
approved, it would make it impossible for the Council to resist similar applications 
elsewhere within the Land Settlement area. This would have a seriously detrimental 
impact on the character of the area and result in the creation of a suburban form of 
development in this semi-rural location. 
 

24. The applicants and Cllr Bard have referred to other instances in the Land Settlement 
area where planning permission has been granted for dwellings. It is notable that 

Page 71



there is not a single example or instance of a newly constructed dwelling being 
erected in this area. Examples of recent development in the LSA include the 
conversion of outbuildings to a new dwelling at 44 North Road and to a live/work unit 
at 32 South Road, and the conversion of a former pumping station to a dwelling in 
North Road. All of these consents are consistent with policies relating to the 
conversion of rural outbuildings to alternative uses. Consent has also recently been 
granted to convert an outbuilding at 57a North Road to a dwelling, but, for 
sustainability reasons, the occupation of this approved dwelling was specifically 
restricted to an equestrian worker employed in connection with the business being 
operated on the adjacent. 
 

25. None of the examples quoted within the application and referred to above are 
considered to have established any form of precedent that would make the erection of 
a new dwelling in this location acceptable. 
 

26. The harm caused by providing the proposed new dwelling in an unsustainable 
location and to the character of the area would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits from the contribution of a single dwelling towards meeting the 
Council’s five-year housing need. The proposal would therefore be contrary to 
paragraph 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012. 

 
Other matters 
 

27. In 2012, Great Abington Parish Council submitted a representation to the Local Plan. 
This suggested that there should be a special policy covering the LSA that, amongst 
other things, would include provision for each of the original houses being allowed to 
convert one existing outbuilding to a dwelling subject to maintaining adequate 
distances between neighbouring properties and to a maximum floor area of 150 
square metres.  
 

28. This representation was considered as part of the Local Plan review, but was not 
taken forward. The draft Local Plan does propose to introduce a greater degree of 
flexibility into policies relating to extending dwellings in the countryside and to the 
conversion of existing rural buildings, but it is notable that this application does not fall 
within either of these categories of development. Additionally, whilst the Parish 
Council may consider the proposal to be consistent with its representation and 
intentions for the Estate, the lack of any specific policy covering the area would mean 
the Council would have no means by which future development could be controlled in 
the event this application were approved. 

 
Recommendation 

 
29. Refusal: 

 
1. The site is located outside the defined village framework for Great Abington and 

within the countryside, approximately 2.5 kilometres from the services and 
facilities within the centre of Great Abington and 1.6 kilometres from the nearest 
bus stop in Pampisford Road. Additionally, the roads in the Land Settlement 
Association area are shared between pedestrians and vehicles, and have no 
street lighting. The combination of the lack of well-lit footpaths and cycleways 
together with the distance of the site from the village centre and nearest bus stop 
means that, in all likelihood, occupiers of the proposed dwelling would be likely to 
rely on the private car to access services and facilities. The proposal would 
conflict with one of the underlying principles of sustainable development, namely 
minimising the need to travel and reducing car dependency. Consequently, the 

Page 72



proposal would be contrary to: the aims and objectives of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2012, which contains a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development; and the principles of Policy DP/7 of the adopted Local Development 
Framework 2007, which seeks to prevent incremental housing growth in 
unsustainable locations.. 
 

2. Notwithstanding the above, the proposed development would harm the character 
and appearance of the area. No.23 South Road consists of one of around 60 
houses in the Land Settlement area of North road, South Road and Chalky Road. 
Whilst a number of the dwellings have been significantly extended over time, and 
some outbuildings converted to form annexes/habitable accommodation, the 
character of the area is overwhelmingly one of detached houses set within 
significant plot sizes, with a relatively even spacing between dwellings that lends 
the area a semi-rural character. The proposed development would result in a 
smaller plot size and more cramped form of development (in terms of average 
spacing between dwellings) than is typical of the area. Additionally, if approved, it 
would make it very difficult for the Council to resist similar applications elsewhere 
within the Land Settlement area. This would result in the creation of a suburban 
form of development that would have a seriously detrimental impact on the 
character of the area. Consequently, the proposal would be contrary to Policies 
DP/2 and DP/3 of the Local Development Framework 2007, which state that 
permission will not be granted for development that has an unacceptable adverse 
impact on the countryside, and require new development to preserve or enhance 
the character of the local area. 
 
  

Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning 

Documents 
• Draft Local Plan 2013 
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• Planning File Ref: S/3038/14/FL 
 
Report Author:  Lorraine Casey – Senior Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713251 
 

Page 73



Page 74

This page is left blank intentionally.



!

"#
$%
&

"#
$%
&

'()"*!+(,-..

/0

.1$

/2

/3

.4

./

"$5&

'%$67!8!19.3::
";<7!=>!?6=@9!:A934 -$@7!=>!?6=@9!./B:.B.:13

: 1 . /::<

C!D#=E5!%=?F#;GH@I

Page 75



Page 76

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 4 March 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 
 
Application Number: S/2268/14/PO 
  
Parish(es): West Wratting 
  
Proposal: Modify paragraph 2.4 of the deed of 

variation of planning obligation dated 29 
July 2011 to amend wording to remove 
restriction of daily HGV movements within 
the unilateral undertaking dated 4 January 
2007. 
Modify unilateral undertaking dated 4 
January 2007 to remove definition of ‘two-
way HGV movement’ and reference to the 
need to supply an annual monitoring 
report to the County Council 

  
Site address: Camgrain, London Road, Balsham 
  
Applicant(s): Camgrain Stores Ltd 
  
Recommendation: Delegated Approval 
  
Key material considerations: Highway safety 
  
Committee Site Visit: None 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: Lorraine Casey 
  
Application brought to Committee because: The Officer recommendation is contrary to 

the recommendation of West Wratting, 
Great Wilbraham and Balsham Parish 
Councils 

  
Date by which decision due: 11 November 2014 (Time extension 

agreed until 27 March 2015) 
 
 
 

Planning History 
 

1. S/2494/04/F – Planning permission granted for a 90,000 tonne grain storage facility.  
 

2. S/0506/09/F – Planning permission granted for a 210,000 tonne extension to the 
original facility.  

Agenda Item 11

Page 77



 
 
Planning Policies 

 
3. National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
 
4. Local Development Framework 2007 
 

DP/1: Sustainable Development 
DP/2: Design of New Development 
DP/3: Development Criteria 
DP/4: Infrastructure and New Developments 
DP/7: Development Frameworks 
NE/1: Energy Efficiency 
NE/15: Noise Pollution 
TR/1: Planning for More Sustainable Travel 
TR/2: Car and Cycle Parking Standards 

 
5. Draft Local Plan 2013 

 
S/1: Vision 
S/2: Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/5: Provision of New Jobs and Homes 
S/7: Development Frameworks 
CC/3: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments 
CC/4: Sustainable Design and Construction 
TI/2: Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3: Parking Provision 

 
Consultations 

 
6. West Wratting Parish Council – Recommends refusal: 

 
“At the Parish Council meeting….the above planning application was discussed both 
with the parish council and a large number of parishioners and it was agreed that the 
Parish Council unanimously opposes the application and wishes the planning 
authority to consider the following and reject the application. 
 
1. Impact on safety on the A11 
 
The restrictions were put in place on the original application because of safety 
concerns relating to volume of grain lorries accessing and leaving the A11. These 
concerns were raised by an independent assessment made at the time that was 
commissioned by SCDC. No improvements have taken place since. 
 
No change should be made that would result in considerable increase in volume 
before the junction to the A11 is substantially improved. It is the council’s opinion 
that any such improvements to the junction should be financed by the applicant, not 
the tax payer. Because of concerns about road safety we therefore request that the 
Police Authority are consulted over this application and a further independent 
assessment carried out to measure the impact of changes in volume. 

 
2. Impact of removing restrictions on HGV traffic in surrounding villages 
 

Page 78



Public concern. We have had an unprecedented amount of concern expressed locally 
about grain lorry traffic already prior to this application that has come about as a 
result of the expansion of both the facility on West Wratting Common (Thurlow 
Estate) and CamGrain. Feelings could be described as febrile on the issue of large 
numbers of HGV’s going through the village.  
 
Weight restrictions. The application has caused many people (and us as a council) to 
consider lobbying for a weight restriction through our village if matters do not improve. 
 
Accidents. Although as far as we know, there have been no serious accidents yet 
caused by grain lorries, this is regarded as fortunate, as there have been many minor 
problems with several near-misses caused by grain lorries going too fast in narrow 
country roads. We are encouraging residents who experience such incidents to report 
them to police even if there is no damage. Again we would ask that the Police 
Authority consider the increased risk of RTAs on minor roads caused by a large 
increase in HGV traffic. 
 
3. Environment 
 
Noise and air pollution and road damage. There is an environment issue following on 
from removing the restrictions with the noise of the grain lorries, particularly when 
empty, which could become a 24-hour nuisance, together with additional localised air 
pollution and also the damage to the narrow roads. 
 
Listed Buildings. Of great concern to SCDC regarding any decision that increases 
HGV traffic in the locality should be the impact upon listed buildings close to the 
roadside. There are 11 listed buildings on West Wratting High Street (five within a few 
metres), which is a favoured route for grain to be transferred between Camgrain and 
the Thurlow facility on West Wratting Common. The Chairman of WWPC has had it 
confirmed from a director of the Thurlow Estate that regular movements do take place 
to make use of spare capacity and use WW High Street as the route of choice. 
 
Again we would ask that independent assessment of the impact of HGVs on listed 
buildings in West Wratting, and ask that English Heritage be consulted.” 
 
In response to the proposed extension to the routing agreement, West Wratting 
Parish Council states that it still strongly objects to the application due to reasons 
previously given that have not been addressed: 
 
• The proposed exclusion zone needs to have some enforcement capability that 

should be transparent to the local residents.  
• All journeys taken within the exclusion zone for purposes of transfer and delivery 

need to be separately logged so that if residents have cause to believe drivers are 
taking shortcuts they can refer to the times when they have seen the lorries to the 
log to find out where they were delivering to.  

• There should be a clear definition as to what constitutes a delivery, and a clear 
declaration that they will not transfer grain to the Thurlow site on WW Common 
via WW High Street.  

• There should be an agreement to financial penalties if infringement takes place. 
• What evidence does Camgrain have to refute evidence by residents? This is a 

clear attempt to mislead planners, as grain is being transferred to the Thurlow site 
at The Common via West Wratting High Street. 

• Why has the Parish Council’s request for an independent assessment of the 
safety of the junction been ignored? 

Page 79



 
7. Great Wilbraham Parish Council – Recommends refusal: 

 
“The members of the Council are seriously concerned that no traffic figures have 
been given as part of the application. In addition no justification for need has been 
included. Finally it is the Council’s understanding that current movement rates have 
been exceeded.” 
 
Great Wilbraham Parish Council has confirmed that the proposed amendment to the 
routing agreement has not altered its previous recommendation. Additionally, it notes 
that the route through Six Mile Bottom is a rat run. 

 
8. Balsham Parish Council – Recommends refusal, stating: 
 

“The removal of the restriction of daily HGV movements will result in increased traffic 
through Balsham which will increase noise pollution, vibration and disruption in the 
village.” 

 
9. Weston Colville Parish Council – Recommends approval, although states it is 

generally not happy to see planning conditions relaxed as it rather negates some of 
them. 
 
In response to the amended details, Weston Colville Parish Council has commented 
that: 
 
“The green colouring on the map (ie the exclusion zone proposed by Camgrain) 
should be extended to the other parish boundaries of Carlton, West Wickham, West 
Wratting, Balsham and Weston Colville. If the green delineation as it stands on the 
map remains in place then the grain lorries can go to and through most of the 
villages.” 

 
10. The Highways Agency – Raises no objections. 
 
11. The Local Highways Authority – Raises no objections, stating that no significant 

adverse effect upon the public highway should result from this proposal should 
consent be granted. The removal of the movements restriction and the removal of the 
need to supply an Annual Monitoring report does not affect the Routing Agreement 
that stipulates the routes that HGV’s must take to the site, as the prohibited routes 
shown within the Unilateral Undertaking will remain in place and are fully supported 
and monitored by Camgrain. 
 
Representations 

 
12. District Councillor Turner has confirmed his support for the application on the basis of 

the amendment to the routing agreement. 
 

13. Approximately 56 letters of objection have been received, the majority of these from 
residents within West Wratting. The main concerns raised are: 

 
• The A11 access junction for the Camgrain site is inadequate for its current use as 

the on/off slip roads are too short. Any increase in HGV movements will make 
this junction more dangerous. 
 

Page 80



• The 210,000 tonne extension has not yet been built. The number of movements 
associated with the extended store, and the impact of those movements, is not 
therefore known. 

 
• Any application to increase the number of daily movements is premature until the 

store has been operating at full capacity for a number of harvest periods and a 
full safety investigation has been conducted for the site and surrounding villages. 

 
• When the A11 is fully dualled to Norwich, this will increase vehicle numbers and 

more traffic using this junction. 
 

• Minimal improvement to the junction was undertaken for the original scheme. 
SCDC employed an independent consultant to undertake a Safety Audit and 
advise on requirements for the A11 junction. The Consultant advised there 
should be longer slip roads but these improvements were not imposed. 

 
• The weighbridge restriction is meant to prevent platooning onto the A11. 

However, HGV’s have been observed parking on the exit side of the weighbridge 
and leaving in convoys, hence leading to platooning. 

 
• Villages to the south (West Wratting, Weston Colville and Balsham) are used as 

a rat run by Camgrain’s HGV’s. Six Mile Bottom is also used to access the A14. 
The removal of restrictions would increase traffic movements through these 
villages.  

 
• Restrictions are in place for Fulbourn and Great Wilbraham but no such 

restrictions exist for the above villages to the south. The extent of prohibited 
roads should therefore be increased to protect the parishes adjacent to the site, 
particularly those to the south (Weston Colville, West Wratting and Balsham). 
 

• HGV’s travelling through surrounding villages are resulting in damage to property 
and verges, causing a safety risk to other road users and pedestrians and 
cyclists, and disrupting the quality of life of residents in surrounding villages as a 
result of noise and vibration. The proposal would exacerbate these problems, 
particularly during harvest time. 

 
• Noise and vibration caused by HGV’s are resulting in damage to listed buildings, 

and causing potholes etc in local roads. If this application is approved, it is likely 
nearby villages will seek weight restrictions on traffic travelling through the 
villages. 

 
• Environmental and sustainability impact studies should be undertaken, and the 

impact of the current level of traffic reviewed, before any increase is allowed. 
Such a review would identify any amelioration required to address any damage 
that would be caused by increased HGV volumes.  

 
• Camgrain should have to continue to report the volume of vehicle movements to 

SCDC. This provides the only tool for SCDC to protect road users and residents if 
problems arise. There is no justification to relax this restriction. 

 
• In response to the proposed amendment to the routing agreement, it is stressed 

the village of Six Mile Bottom suffers greatly from HGV traffic routing through it 
and must be included in the proposed extension to the routing agreement. 

 

Page 81



Planning Comments 
 
Site and Proposal 

 
14. Camgrain occupies a site extending to approximately 11.3 hectares on the south-east 

side of the A11 trunk road. Along the northern boundary is a public byway beyond 
which lies a landfill site. To the east and south is higher land upon which a wind farm 
has been erected. Approximately 400m to the west is a residential property, West 
Wratting Valley Farm. Around 3km to the north, beyond the A11, is the village of 
Great Wilbraham, whilst the villages of Balsham and West Wratting lie to the south-
east. 
 

15. The site comprises an approved 90,000 tonne grain storage facility, for which 
planning permission was granted in 2006 under planning reference S/2494/04/F. In 
2011, planning permission was granted for a 210,000 tonne extension to the original 
facility (S/0506/09/F). This extension has not been constructed to date. 

 
16. The original application for the 90,000 tonne facility was subject to a planning 

obligation restricting HGV movements to 150 two-way movements per day and that 
put in place a routing agreement to ensure lorries delivering grain do not use roads 
through nearby villages. 

 
17. The later application to extend the facility to a total of 300,000 tonnes was subject to a 

deed of variation to the original legal agreement to restrict development generated 
traffic to 500 two-way movements each day. 

 
18. The current application seeks to modify the legal agreement and deed of variation in 

order to remove the restriction on the number of daily HGV movements and to 
remove the associated obligation to supply an annual monitoring report to the County 
Council. 

 
19. The accompanying Planning Statement explains that Camgrain is a major grain 

storage facility playing a vital role in the UK food supply chain. Food security issues 
are a key element of the business. The British weather affects supply and demand, 
and food security is increasingly difficult to manage during harvest. Climate change 
means crops need to be harvested from the field with increasing urgency. Crops are 
harvested in often narrow timeframes, and grain movement needs to be equally 
adaptive. Camgrain has to adapt to changeable weather conditions especially during 
the busiest months of harvest time and also guarantee the highest levels of food 
security to its customers. 

 
20. The supporting information explains that the imposition on the number of permissible 

HGV movements affects the Company’s ability to be adaptive and responsive to 
demand whilst dealing with the uncertainty of the British weather. The site has to be 
capable of meeting demands by having the ability to accept grain as it comes off the 
fields. The constraint is having a significant impact on the potential of the facility to 
fulfil its function. 

 
21. The statement also explains that, if the restriction on the number of HGV movements 

is lifted, this raises a question regarding the relevance of any requirement for an 
Annual Monitoring Report, which have recorded the number of HGV movements 
across the year. 
 

22. The application has been amended, in response to concerns raised, to extend the 
routing agreement. This proposes to introduce new prohibited routes through West 

Page 82



Wratting and Balsham, and to ensure that the Camgrain HGV vehicles travelling 
through these villages are those that are collecting grain from the local area. The 
‘local area’ is proposed to cover the parishes of Carlton, Weston Colville, West 
Wratting, Balsham and West Wratting, as well as the stretch of the B1052 between 
Linton and Balsham.  

 
Comments 

 
23. Under planning application reference S/2494/04/F, permission was granted for the 

erection of a 90,000 tonne grain storage facility. The consent was conditional upon 
improvements being carried out to the slip lanes on and off the A11 trunk road and to 
traffic lights being installed on the bridge over the A11. In addition, a planning 
obligation restricted HGV movements to 150 two-way movements per day, and also 
put in place a routing agreement to ensure lorries delivering grain do not use roads 
through the villages of Fulbourn and Great Wilbraham. 
 

24. The Highways Agency raised no objections to this application subject to the amount 
of grain being restricted to 90,000 tonnes and to the aforementioned restriction on the 
number of HGV movements. The application was deferred by Members at Committee 
so that independent highways advice could be obtained. The appointed consultants 
concluded that a different layout/slip road length would be preferable, but could not 
substantiate an objection to the proposal given the highways improvements proposed 
in the application. In the absence of a demonstrable highway safety issue, the original 
scheme was approved. 
 

25. Under application reference S/0506/09/F, a 210,000 tonne capacity extension to the 
original premises was proposed. This proposal incorporated a number of highways 
improvements including the widening of Mill Road between the A11 junction and site 
access. The application also sought to increase the number of permitted two-way 
movements to 250 per day (500 in total). The Highways Agency raised concerns 
regarding this application on the basis that the potential platooning of heavy vehicles 
leaving the site could lead to short but significant interruptions in flow on the A11. To 
address this, it required any consent to be subject to a condition requiring all haulage 
vehicles to exit the site through a single weighbridge. This permission was also 
subject to a deed of variation to the Section 106 Agreement to restrict the number of 
vehicle movements to those specified in the application. 

 
26. The Highways Agency has commented in relation to the current proposal that, if the 

restriction on the number of HGVs is lifted, maintaining the ‘metering’ effect of the 
weighbridge would continue to mitigate the problems of vehicles queuing onto the 
A11.  
 

27. The weighbridge effectively limits movements to 1 grain lorry per minute which 
provides a built-in controlling mechanism. It is the maximum rate at which HGV’s join 
the A11 that is the relevant factor to the Highways Agency in terms of highway safety 
and capacity, in particular the effect of platooning vehicles joining the A11. The 
weighbridge constrains these movements and the restriction on the total number of 
movements is not therefore relevant. 
 

28. It is notable that the restriction on the number of HGV movements was controlled 
within the previous application in order to tie the number of movements to those 
requested at the time by Camgrain, rather than because it was specifically requested 
by the Highways Agency. 
 

Page 83



29. The legal agreements currently include a requirement for the number of vehicle 
movements to be monitored. This is to ensure a mechanism is in place for measuring 
the number of movements and ensuring compliance with the restrictions in the 
agreement. If this restriction is removed, it automatically follows that there should be 
no continuing requirement for an Annual Monitoring Report. The Local Highways 
Authority has raised no objections to the consequent removal of this requirement. 

 
30. West Wratting Parish Council has requested that an independent highways 

assessment be carried out prior to any decision being made. However, neither the 
Highways Agency nor the Local Highways Authority has objected to the application. 
As such, Officers consider there can be no justification for requiring independent 
highways advice. Whilst Members have previously requested an independent 
highways assessment on the site, this did not result in any changes to the original 
recommendation. Additionally, further road improvements have been carried out and 
the site is also now subject to an additional restriction relating to the weighbridge (as 
set out above), both of which represent material changes since the previous deferral 
for highways advice. 

 
31. The previous applications were subject to a lorry routing agreement preventing HGV’s 

associated with the development from travelling through the villages of Great and 
Little Wilbraham and Fulbourn (unless collecting grain within these villages). Much 
concern has been raised on the grounds that Camgrain’s lorries are rat-running 
through nearby villages on the south side of the A11 (notably West Wratting and 
Balsham) and that the routing agreement should be extended to include these 
villages. 
 

32. Camgrain has strongly refuted these allegations, stating that it cannot be held 
responsible for all HGV movements observed in the area. It is estimated that around 
just 5% of current arable crops grown in the local area are destined for a Camgrain 
store, and that less than 2.5% of bulk vehicle movements in these villages will be 
serving Camgrain. Additionally, it is stressed that lorry movements associated with 
Thurlow Estates are not related, in any way, to Camgrain. The two are entirely 
separate operations and it is stressed that Camgrain does not store grain at Thurlow 
as has been suggested by West Wratting Parish Council. 
 

33. Camgrain has stressed that its lorries will have to use routes through these villages 
when accessing farms in the area given the need to take the most direct route. 
However, there is no need for its lorries to use roads through these villages unless 
specifically serving farms in the area. In response to the concerns raised, Camgrain 
has offered to amend the routing agreement in order to extend the prohibited routes 
to include the villages of West Wratting and Balsham in order to provide comfort that 
the only Camgrain HGV’s travelling through these villages will be those serving the 
local area (as described in paragraph 22 above). 
 

34. It has been suggested in third party responses received that the routing agreement 
should be extended to include the village of Six Mile Bottom. The road that runs 
through this village is an A road (the A1304) and the most direct route for all vehicles 
(not just those associated with Camgrain) travelling to and from the Newmarket area 
as well as for vehicles accessing the A14 westbound via the Wilbraham Road. 
Including this route would significantly impact on Camgrain’s operation and is not 
considered to be justified by the proposal.  

 
35. Concerns have been raised that any increase in lorries travelling through nearby 

villages would result in an associated increase in noise disturbance to local residents, 
as well as having a potentially adverse impact on historic/listed buildings within those 

Page 84



villages. The previous restrictions on vehicle numbers were imposed for highway 
safety reasons, rather than for reasons of minimising disturbance to residents or 
protecting heritage assets within villages through which vehicles may travel. Given 
that Camgrain’s vehicles would represent a very small proportion of all vehicles 
travelling through these villages (particularly with the extended routing agreement in 
place), the proposal is not considered to give rise to significant adverse issues in 
respect of either of these matters. 

 
Recommendation 

 
36. Approve the requested variations to the Section 106 Agreement and Deed of 

Variation 
 

  
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.  
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies 

DPD 2007 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning 

Documents 
• Draft Local Plan 2013 
• National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
• Planning File Refs: S/2268/14/PO, S/0506/09/F, S/2494/04/F 
 
Report Author:  Lorraine Casey – Senior Planning Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713251 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



Page 86

This page is left blank intentionally.



!

"
!#
$%
&'

()
!$
*+
!,
$-
+!
#+
.

/-
$0
'

/
-$
0'

1$++20'!1&$*3$342*

(/5

/-
$0
'

62*78-9:!,8&&

()!$*+!,$-+!#+.

;;

<=>>?!##

)8@

6A$&'!143

,#

B&+!6$?C-4+78!D2$+!1&$*3$342*

1%?E

F$&&8.!;$-?

,8:3!,-$334*7

/-$0'

/-
$0
'

"!
#$
%&'

< => >?
!"
!#
$ % &'

)8@

/A8!G%$+-$*3

H2-:8:A28!1&$*3$342*

I!<
<I!

<<

I!
<<

(/5

"32*8

"32*8

"32*8

"32*8

"32*8

12:3:

"D

<=>>?!;;

"!#$%
&'

<=>>?

;;

F$&&8.!;$-?!6233$78

(
/5

<=>>?
!;;

143
J+4:%:8+K

/-$
0'

1&$*3$342*

L8MA8$3A

/-$0'

/-$0'

N
O55!D

B
I
)

PQ=<?

,#

)8@

/-
$0
'

)8@

/-$0'

(
&!"
%C!"

3$:

H2EE8-:

/-$0'

/-$
0'

/-$0'

,4*+!/%-C4*8

,4*+!/%-C4*8

N$:3!J/8&802??%*40$342*K

/-
$0
'

12*+

#
$&$*04*7!1

2*+

(&!"%C!"3$

(&!"%C!"
3$

,#

6
-$
*8

6
-$
*8

,#

,4*+!/%-C4*8

,4*+!/%-C4*8

R-$4*!"4&2:

R-$4*!"32-8

,4*+!/%-C4*8

,$+&2M!,4*+!;$-?

,4*+!/%-C4*8

12*+

,4*+ /%-C4*8

/
-$0'

"0$&8!S!<T<UUUU
/4?8!2@!E&23T!UVTWX )$38!2@!E&23T!>PYU>Y>U<Q

U < > P W Q X Z [ V <U << <>UU?

\!6-2M*!02E.-47A3=

Page 87



Page 88

This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Planning Committee 4 March 2015 
Lead Officer: Jo Mills, Executive Director  

 
 

 
Changes to Planning Obligations for Smaller Residential Developments 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To seek approval to changes in Council practice on planning obligations for smaller 

residential developments. 
 
2. This is not a key decision because, although the effects of the changes on local 

communities could be significant, they are a consequence of Government policy and 
outside the discretion of the Council.  

 
Recommendations 

 
3. It is recommended that: 

(a) decisions on planning obligations and associated legal agreements, where 
there has been a resolution to grant planning permission by the Planning 
Committee on smaller residential development, be delegated to the Executive 
Director for Planning and New Communities, in accordance with government 
policy and 

(b) a planning condition be used requiring submission and approval of an 
Affordable Housing Scheme for developments of 3 or more new dwellings, or 
4 or more dwellings where an existing dwelling is to be demolished. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
4. Following receipt of Counsel’s advice, an urgent Executive Chief Officer decision was 

taken, as approved by the Planning Portfolio Holder and Leader on 20 February 
2015. The Chairman of the Council and the Chairman of Scrutiny & Overview 
Committee agreed that the decision was reasonable and urgent, due to the many 
enquiries from planning applicants and agents regarding delays to date and to assist 
in the promotion of residential development in the district. 

 
Background 

 
5. On 28 November 2014, the Minister announced changes in the development 

thresholds for planning obligations. The statement provided that ‘Due to the 
disproportionate burden of developer contributions on small scale developers, for 
sites of 10 units or less, and which have a maximum combined gross floor space of 
1000 square metres, affordable housing and tariff style contributions should not be 
sought.’ 
 

6. Early in the New Year, West Berkshire and Reading Councils sought a Judicial 
Review of the Government’s actions, seeking to have the policy in the Ministerial 
statement quashed. The outcome of this challenge is unlikely to be known for some 
weeks, if not months, but the Council will continue to monitor progress and has 
offered a witness statement. In view of the challenge, the Council, similar to several 

Agenda Item 12

Page 89



others, deferred completion of legal agreements on planning approvals, which along 
with previous delays created a backlog of 143 cases. 
 

7. In the meantime, the Council sought Counsel’s advice on legal options open to it and 
whether a conditional, or ‘either/or’, clause could be used in the period up to the 
decision upon the judicial challenge. Counsel’s advice was that any such clauses 
would be ultra vires.  
 

8. The Council has received many enquiries from planning applicants and agents 
regarding the delays to date. Many of them are anxious to conclude land sale 
agreements or complete funding to start on site. Delays are causing reputational and 
financial risks to the Council and it is considered there are now no alternative options, 
so the Planning Portfolio holder has approved an urgent decision to issue 
permissions without legal agreements, in accordance with the government changes in 
policy. 

 
Considerations 

 
9. The wider context to these changes is that from 5th April this year all planning 

obligations of a general tariff nature will be subject to the “Rule of 5”, and so may no 
longer be applicable. The Council is seeking Counsel’s Advice as to possible steps 
for SCDC to introduce CIL ahead of the Local Plan being adopted, and which could 
potentially accelerate CIL receipts by a number of months. In the meantime, all cases 
will be individually assessed, with no tariff based rules applied. Larger residential 
developments and obligations that meet the tests of relevance and are needed to 
make a development acceptable, may still be required. 

 
Options 

 
10. All options to mitigate the impacts of the changes in national planning policy have 

been explored, including not issuing permissions until the outcome of the JR is 
known. This approach, however, would not secure s106 payments for community 
infrastructure.  The Council would be liable to appeals on the basis on non-
determination and is likely to suffer reputational damage due to the impact on 
planning performance. 
 

11. An alternative would have been to only issue permissions where a s106 agreement 
had been secured in line with the Council’s adopted policies. However, it is estimated 
that only a very limited percentage (perhaps no more than 10%) of the outstanding 91 
permissions for single dwellings would agree to enter into a section 106 Agreement 
on such a basis, It is thought that most applicants would not agree a section 106 
requiring tariff style payments and would hold off drawing  down their permission until 
after 5th April, when “subject to the rule of 5” most if not all such payments would no 
longer be applicable.  This would have a clear negative impact upon housing delivery, 
and upon the relationship between the Council and its planning applicants.  
Considerable concern has already been expressed regarding delays in issuing 
planning consents.   

 
Implications 
 

12. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, there are no significant implications, other than legal, which are implicit in 
the recommendations. 
 

Page 90



Consultations  
 
13. In view of the urgent and legal nature of this report, no consultations have been 

undertaken. 
 
Effect on Strategic Aims 
 

14. The reduction for the period up to 5th April 2015 in development funding of 
infrastructure in villages from smaller residential developments will impact on the 
Council’s engagement with local communities. This report sets out the steps taken to 
require some affordable housing provision for such schemes.  

 
 
Background Papers 
Affordable Housing SPD – Website 
Planning Practice Guidance – Planning Portal website 
 
Report Author:  Tony Pierce – Interim Development Control Manager 

Telephone: (01954) 713165 

Page 91



Page 92

This page is left blank intentionally.



  
 
  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 4 March 2015 
LEAD OFFICER: Planning and new Communities Director 

 
 

 
Appeals against planning decisions and enforcement action 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To inform Members about appeals against planning decisions and enforcement 

action, and proposed hearing and inquiry dates, as 23 February 2015. Summaries of 
recent decisions of importance are also reported, for information. 

 
Decisions Notified By The Secretary of State 
 

2. Ref.no  Details Decision Decision Date 
 S/0571/14/FL Ede and Ravenscroft 

South of Penbroke 
Avenue Denny End  
Waterbeach 
139 Parking Spaces 
and associated works 

Dismissed 04/02/15 

 S/2158/13/FL Mr J Amin 
145 High Street 
Cottenham 
Shop Front 

Dismissed 05/02/15 

 S/2390/13/FL Mr F Stother-Cooke 
Riverside Stables 
Bourne Bridge Road 
Little Abington 
Change of Use of 
lans & Mobile 
Caravan from 
Storage to 
Residential 

Dismissed 17/02/15 

 S/0558/14/OL Downing Ventures 
Ltd Bannold Road 
Waterbeach. 57 
Dwellings 

Allowed 18/02/15 

 
Appeals received 
 

3. Ref. no.  Details 
 

Decision Received 
 S/2770/13/FL Mr & Mrs Spencer 

Lower camps hall Farm 
Bartlow Road 
Castle Camps 
Cambridge 

Refused 26/01/15 

 S/1415/14/FL Ms P Buckley Refused 10/02/15 

 

Agenda Item 13

Page 93



The Oaks Meadow 
Road,Willingham 
Upgrading the existing 
equestrian 
development 

 S/1605/14/FL Guster Group 
31 Granta Terrace 
Great Shelford 
Erection of 4 dwellings 
and associated 
worksfollowing 
demolition of existing 
dwelling 

Refused 10/02/15 

 S/2841/14/FL Mr A Aslam 
1 Iceni Way Orchard 
Park Cambridge 
Retention of extension 
to garage and 2 
rooflights in garage 

Refused 12/02/15 

 
 Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates offered or confirmed in the next few months. 
  
4. Ref. no.  Name 

 
Address Hearing 

 S/0638/14/FL Mr T Wall 1-5 Pine Lane 
Smithy Fen 
Cottenham 

Hearing 
18 February 2015 
Confirmed 

 S/1451/14/FL Mr T Buckley The Oaks 
Meadow Road 
Willingham 

Hearing 
No Date Arranged 

     
5. Summaries of recent decisions 
 

Downing Ventures Ltd – up to 57 dwellings, including affordable housing, 
public open space, new roads and associated infrastructure including a 
sustainable drainage system at Bannold Road and Bannold Drive, Waterbeach 
– Appeal Allowed  

 
1. The Planning Committee refused this application in September 2014. The 

application was for outline planning permission with all matters except access 
reserved. The appeal was determined by way of written representations. 

 
2. The two main issues in the appeal were the effect of the proposal on the 

character and appearance of the area and whether or not the proposed 
density of development would make efficient use of the land. The site lies 
outside the defined village framework and the parties had agreed that the 
Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites. 
Paragraph 49 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that relevant 
policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date in these 
circumstances. Paragraph 14 of the Framework states that where relevant 

Page 94



policies are out-of date, permission should be granted unless any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole. 

 
3. The inspector found the proposal would be beneficial in terms of helping to 

address the identified housing supply shortage and the provision of affordable 
housing of the required tenure mix. It would also provide employment during 
construction. The housing would be in a sustainable location with good access 
on foot to local services and facilities and good access to public transport. He 
also concluded that the proposal would not adversely affect the character and 
appearance of the area and that the proposed density of development would 
make efficient use of the land having regard to the character of the area, 
especially given the location of the site on the edge of the village. 

 
4. Thus the proposal would not be harmful when considered against the policies 

in the Framework when considered as a whole. The benefits of the 
development were not therefore outweighed by significant and demonstrable 
harm. The appeal was allowed subject to the completion of a section 106 
agreement and a raft of various conditions as proposed by the Council. 

 
 
Back ground Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of 
this report: None 
 
Contact Officer:  Tony Pierce – Development Control Manager  
 
Report Author:  Sara James- Appeals Admin 

Telephone: (01954) 713201 

Page 95



Page 96

This page is left blank intentionally.



  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 
LEAD OFFICER: Planning and New Communities Director

 

 
Purpose 
 

1. To inform Members about 
Summaries of recent enforcement notices

 
Enforcement Cases Received and Closed

 
2. Period 
 January 2015  

 
  
 2015 YTD 
 2014 
 

 
-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Q1 
2104

Q2 
2014

Ca
se
s

Planning Enforcement Investigations

   
Planning Committee  
Planning and New Communities Director 

 

Enforcement Report 
 

To inform Members about planning enforcement cases, as at 23rd February 2015
enforcement notices are also reported, for information.

Enforcement Cases Received and Closed 

Cases Received 
37 
 
37 
504 

2014
Q3 

2014
Q4 

2014
Q1 

2105
Q2 

2015
Q3 

2015

Planning Enforcement Investigations

Cases Received

Cases Closed

Reduction/Addition to In 
hand

  

4 March 2015 

February 2015 
are also reported, for information. 

Cases Closed 
35 
 
35 
476 

 

Planning Enforcement Investigations

Cases Received

Cases Closed

Reduction/Addition to In 
hand

Agenda Item 14

Page 97



 
Enforcement Cases on hand:   

 
3. Target 150    

 
4. Actual 87 
 

Notices Served 
 

5. Type of Notice Period Year to date 
 

    
  January 2015 2015 
    
 Enforcement 1 1 
 Stop Notice 0 0 
 Temporary Stop Notice 0 0 
 Breach of Condition 0 0 
 S215 – Amenity Notice 0 0 
 Planning Contravention Notice 0 0 
 Injunctions 0 0 
 High Hedge Remedial Notice 0 0 
 

Notices issued since the last Committee Report  (None) 
  
6. Ref. no.  Village 

 
Address Notice issued 

 PLAENF.1472   Swavesey Land north of 
Anderson Road 

Planning 
Enforcement 

  
7. Details of all enforcement investigations are sent electronically to members on a weekly 

basis identifying opened and closed cases in their respective areas along with case 
reference numbers, location, case officer and nature of problem reported. 
 

8. Full details of enforcement cases can be found on the Councils Web-site 
 

Updates on items that are of particular note 
 
9. Updates are as follows: 
 

a. Stapleford: Breach of Enforcement Notice on land adjacent to Hill Trees, 
Babraham Road. 
Work still in progress regarding legal action relating to the current breach of 
enforcement.  Additional concern noted since the March report regarding the stationing 
of a mobile home on the nursery land section and the importation of brick rubble to form 
a track to link the upper field to the main residence.  Assessment to the Planning 
Contravention response and the site inspection 10th May 2013 has confirmed the 
breach of planning control relating to the engineering operation to the new track, and 
breaches relating to the planning enforcement notices.  A report to the planning 
committee was prepared and submitted. The Committee authorised officers to apply to 
the Court for an Injunction under Section 187B of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.  Members agreed the reasons for the application as being the desire to protect 

Page 98



and enhance the character and amenity of the immediate countryside and the setting of 
Cambridge, Stapleford and Great Shelford in view of the site’s prominent location, and 
the need to address highway safety issues arising from access to the site directly from 
the A1307 
 

The Injunction statement has now been considered by Counsel with further information 
being requested in order that the Injunction application can be submitted. Information is 
currently being collated in order to prepare a further report to submit to the Planning 
Committee. 
 

Report prepared and formed part of the May Planning Committee Agenda.  The 
Committee resolved to give officers the authority sought in paragraph 8 of the report 
from the Planning and New Communities Director for the reasons set out in paragraphs 
9, 10 and 11.   Further inspection of the land carried out, Statements under Legal 
consideration 

 

b. 1-6 Pine Lane – Smithy Fen 
Previously the subject of a planning consent resulting from an appeal decision 14th 
October 2003 under reference APP/W0530/C/03/1113679 The planning permission is 
no longer valid as the owners have failed to comply with their planning permission 
relating to conditions. Additionally a further permission granted at appeal for plots 4 & 5 
Pine Lane 30th August 2012 under reference APP/W0530/A/12/2170121 has also 
lapsed due to planning conditions contained in the appeal decision not being complied 
with/met. A planning application for plots 4/5 has been submitted but not validated.  An 
application for the remaining plots in Pine Lane, 1, 2, 3 & 6 is in the process of being 
submitted. 
 

Valid planning applications relating to plots 1-6 inclusive have not been received as 
requested therefore a file has been submitted to legal requesting the issue of a planning 
enforcement notice. Notices have now been issued and are effective from 21st March 
2014 
 

Planning enforcement notice issued relating to plots1 to 5 inclusive. Plot no6 is currently 
empty and not in breach of planning control.  Planning application covering plots 1 to 5 
inclusive subsequently submitted and validated. Planning Reference no S/0638/14 
refers. Application referred to Planning Committee – Application considered by the 
Committee and refused contrary to officer recommendation within the report. A letter 
issued to owner/occupiers including a copy of the Planning decision notice and 
enforcement notice issued to Plots 1 to 5 Pine Lane instructing them to vacate the land 
as set out in the enforcement notice - Informed by the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) that 
an appeal has been submitted and validated. Appeal hearing 18th February 2015 – 
Waiting decision   

 
c. Buckingway Business Park, Swavesey 

Complaint received regarding the stationing of buses belonging to Sun Fun Travel on 
land adjacent to the business park without the benefit of planning. 
Retrospective planning application submitted under reference no S/0065/14/FL– 
Outstanding items submitted, application now validated – Planning application with 
external planning consultants – Planning application considered, The Council refused 
permission for use of land for parking of double decker buses / coaches and the laying 
of surfacing, erection of metal fencing and a gate (Part Retention) 17th September 2014. 
Sun Fun Travel instructed to vacate the land as soon as possible but no longer than 30 
days. Sun Fun Travel failed to comply which has resulted in a file being submitted to 
legal for the issue of an enforcement notice. 
Enforcement Notice Issued - Compliance period 1 Month – 10th March 2015 

Page 99



 
d. Land North West of Cambridge Road, Wimpole 

Without planning permission, the change of use of the affected land for the stationing 
and residential occupation of a mobile home Planning application submitted and 
validated.  Planning enforcement notice issued, effective 30th April 2014 unless an 
appeal is made against it beforehand.  Appeal against the enforcement notice 
submitted Waiting for start date. Planning application S/0583/14 delegated refusal.  
Planning appeal hearing held – Site visit carried out 17th December 2014.  Appeal 
allowed and temporary planning permission granted subject to conditions, as set out in 
the formal decision. 

 
e. Pear Tree Public House, High Street Hildersham 

Complaint received regarding the reported change of use of the premises to residential 
without the benefit of planning.  Investigation carried out; however the results did not 
reveal any breaches of planning control at this time.  Further report received from parish 
council, content of which investigated resulting in an out of hour’s inspection. Planning 
breach identified as ground floor being used for residential purposes. Breach resolved, 
situation being monitored.  

 
Summary 

 
10. As previously reported Year to date 2014 revealed that the overall number of cases 

investigated by the team totalled 504 cases which was a 1.37% decrease when compared 
to the same period in 2013.  The total number of cases YTD 2015 totals 37 cases 
investigated which when compared to the same period in 2014 is a 11.9% reduction in 
cases   

 
11. In addition to the above work officers are also involved in the Tasking and Coordination 

group which deals with cases that affect more than one department within the organisation, 
including Environment Health, Planning, Housing, Anti-Social behaviour Officers, 
Vulnerable Adults and Safeguarding Children Teams.  Strategic Officer Group, dealing with 
traveller related matters 

 
12. Enforcement contact details are as follows: 
 
 Charlie Swain – Tel: 01954713206 e-mail charles.swain@scambs.gov.uk 
 Alistair Funge- Tel: 01954713092 e-mail alistair.funge@scambs.gov.uk 
 Gordon Mills – Tel: 01954713265 e-mail gordon.mills@scambs.gov.uk 
  

Effect on Strategic Aims 
 
13. This report is helping the Council to deliver an effective enforcement service by 
 

Engaging with residents, parishes and businesses to ensure it delivers first class 
services and value for money 

 
Ensuring that it continues to offer an outstanding quality of life for its residents 

 
Background Papers:  
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: None 
 
Report Author:  Charles Swain – Principal Planning Enforcement Officer 

Telephone:  (01954) 713206 

Page 100



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Planning Committee 4 March 2015 
Lead Officer: Planning and New Communities Director  

 
 

 
Smithy Fen Cottenham (5 to 11 Orchard Drive and 14 to 18 Water Lane) -  Proposed 

Variation of 2006 Injunction in Light of May 2014 Appeal Outcome 
(App/W0530/A/12/2181439 arising from Refusal S/0041/12/Ful)  

 
Purpose 

1. To inform committee of any significant residual breaches of development control now 
affecting the various pitches contemplated by the above planning appeal decision.  
 

2. To seek authority for an application to the High Court to vary the Injunction granted by 
Mr Justice Mitting on 6 April 2006 (sealed by the Court on 7 April 2006 under claim 
reference HQ05X02057), to ensure the tolerations and prohibitions contained in that 
order (“the 2006 order”) properly reflect the planning authorisations and refusals 
resulting from the May 2014 appeal decision.  
 

3. To note the granting of an Injunction order, made by Mr Justice King on a without 
notice basis on 16 January 2015, that had the effect of removing the 2006 tolerations 
in respect of the following three named Defendants as relate to three particular 
pitches detailed in the proviso to paragraph 4a of the 2006 order:- 

 
• Michael O’Brien – 5 Orchard Drive 
• Margaret O’Brien – 5a Orchard Drive 
• Nora O’Brien – 6 Orchard Drive       

 
4. This is a key decision because: 
  

(a) it results in the authority incurring expenditure that is, or the making of savings 
that are, significant having regard to this Council's budget for the service or 
function to which the decision relates; and 

(b) it is of such significance to the locality, the Council or the services it provides 
that the decision-maker is of the opinion it should be treated as if a key 
decision. 

 
Recommendations 

5. The Director (Planning and New Communities) recommends that application be made 
to the High Court under section 187B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
seeking variation of the April 2006 order such that:  
 
(a) the toleration in respect of the following named Defendant as relates to that 

particular pitch detailed in the proviso to paragraph 4a of the 2006 order be 
removed entirely:- 
 
• Michael Hegarty – 11 Orchard Drive (also spelled ‘Heggarty’) 

 
(b) The toleration in respect of the following named Defendant as relates to that 

one particular pitch detailed in the proviso to paragraph 4a of the 2006 order 
be extended to also personally benefit Jimmy O’Brien in similar terms:- 

Agenda Item 15

Page 101



 
• Kathleen O’Brien – 15 Water Lane (n.b. this individual is a different 

person to that contemplated by recommendation (d) below). 
 

(c) The toleration in respect of the following named Defendant as relates to that 
one particular pitch detailed in the proviso to paragraph 4a of the 2006 order 
be extended to also personally benefit Kathleen Slattery and David 
Gammell in similar terms:- 

 
• Nora Slattery – 10 Orchard Drive 

 
(d) The prohibitions set out at paragraph 4 of the 2006 order be expressly 

and specifically extended to contemplate and bind the following person as if 
a named Defendant without any toleration as relates to the one particular pitch 
detailed, or otherwise in respect of the Northern Area or the Southern Area as 
defined at paragraph 2 of the 2006 order and, further, that the current and 
continuing breach of development control affecting that pitch as 
represented by its unauthorised use for the stationing and residential 
occupation of caravans and/or mobile homes be ordered to cease and 
the pitch be cleared of chattels associated with such unauthorised 
development:- 

 
• Kathleen O’Brien – 11 Orchard Drive (n.b. this individual is a different 

person to that contemplated by recommendation (b) above). 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
6. Approval of the recommendations described above and securing the resulting further 

variations to the April 2006 Injunction will, should the Court be minded to exercise its 
discretions in the manner suggested, harmonise the current and now fully established 
planning authorisations for the affected pitches with the controls asserted by the 
Injunction. This harmonisation will increase certainty for all stakeholders as to the 
extent and nature of residential occupations that are now permitted, and as to the 
sanctions that might apply (i.e. committal to prison for contempt) if occupations occur 
or continue that are not permitted. The varied Injunction will complete a suite (in 
conjunction with a series of others relating to land at Victoria View and land at Pine 
View) that effectively reinforce the Council’s ability to assert planning control at 
Smithy Fen in the face of a serious and extensive history of non-compliance there.       

 
Background – May 2014 Appeal 

7. Planning appeal APP/W0530/A/12/2181439, decided on 2 May 2014 after a local 
public inquiry held in March 2014, was made by Kathleen O’Brien of 15 Water Lane, 
following a refusal by the Council on 17 July 2012 of planning application 
S/0041/12/FUL, as submitted on 9 January 2012. The development proposed by this 
application and refused consent by the Council was a change of use of 5, 5a, 6, 10 
and 11 Orchard Drive, and 15 Water Lane to six gypsy/traveller pitches; and the 
change of use of 7, 8, and 9 Orchard Drive, and 14,16, 17 and 18 Water Lane to a 
community garden. 
 

8. Prior to the holding of the inquiry, the appellant amended the appeal proposal to a 
smaller site extent that excluded pitches 5, 5a, and 6 Orchard Drive due in part to 
those pitches having then been vacated and the absent occupiers/proprietors not 
wishing to pursue the appeal in respect of their holdings. The appeal was accordingly 
decided on the basis of a revised development description reflecting this reduced 
scope; these three pitches not being considered and the Council’s refusal of consent 
for their development not being challenged.  

Page 102



 
9. The appeal decision in respect of the revised scheme issued on a split basis, with 

some elements of the reduced appeal succeeding and others failing.  
 

10. The appeal was allowed insofar as it related to the change of use of 10 Orchard Drive 
and 15 Water Lane to gypsy/traveller pitches. Planning permission was duly granted 
for such use of each pitch for a temporary period of up to four years from 2 May 2014 
for the personal benefit only of Nora Slattery, Kathleen Slattery, and David Gammell 
(10 Orchard Drive); and Kathleen O’Brien and Jimmy O’Brien (15 Water Lane), and 
their respective resident dependents. 
 

11. The appeal was dismissed insofar as it related to the change of use of 11 Orchard 
Drive to a gypsy/traveller pitch; and for the change of use of 7, 8, and 9 Orchard 
Drive, and 14, 16, 17 and 18 Water Lane to a community garden. 
 

12. A copy of the 2 May 2014 appeal decision is appended to this report as Appendix 1 
and members are requested to especially note the detailed balancing exercise 
undertaken by the Inspector in weighing personal circumstances of occupiers against 
planning harm in arriving at the split outcomes arrived at (from paragraph 54), 
together with his description of the factual context for the appeal (from paragraph 9).      

 
Background – June 2008 Appeal 

13. A previous planning appeal APP/W0530/A/07/2049741, decided on 2 June 2008 on 
the basis of written submissions after a local public inquiry was opened in March 
2008 but not conducted to conclusion due to withdrawal of the appellants’ agent, was 
made by Michael O’Brien, Nora O’Brien, Margaret O’Brien, Nora Slattery, and 
Michael Hegarty, following a refusal by the Council on 19 April 2007 of planning 
application S/1631/06/F, submitted on 4 August 2006. The development proposed by 
this application and refused consent by the Council was the retention of a residential 
gypsy caravan site for a temporary period of four years at 5, 5a, 6, 10 and 11 Orchard 
Drive. 
 

14. It is apparent from the retrospective nature of the development description at issue 
then that all of the pitches were in occupation at the time the appealed planning 
application was made. This is confirmed at paragraph 2 of the appeal decision, which 
is appended to this report as Appendix 2.  
 

15. Once again, a reading of the Inspector’s reasoning reveals that the personal 
circumstances and accommodation needs of the various occupiers were considered 
in detail and weighed against the planning harm resulting from the development that 
could then be seen; the balance of that exercise indicating that the appeal should be 
dismissed and permission for the development refused. 
 
Background – Enforcement Notices and Enforcement Appeals 

16. The south-eastern extent (broadly half) of each of the three pitches comprising 5, 5a, 
and 6 Orchard Drive, together with the entirety of the two pitches comprising 10 and 
11 Orchard Drive, were all made the subject of individual enforcement notices issued 
by the Council on 22 June 2005. These notices addressed the unauthorised change 
of use of the affected land for the stationing of residential caravans and the ancillary 
laying of hard surfaces, erection of sheds and other ancillary structures. 
 

17. The north-western extent (again, broadly half) of each of the three pitches comprising 
5, 5a, and 6 Orchard Drive were collectively included (together with other land 
previously forming an orchard belonging to a third party) in a single enforcement 
notice issued by the Council on 22 December 2004. This notice addressed the 

Page 103



unauthorised use of the land for siting residential caravans with associated vehicles, 
sheds, steel containers, ancillary drainage, electricity and water supplies, and 
construction of accesses and hard-standings. 
 

18. A further enforcement notice in similar terms was issued in respect of 15 Water Lane 
on 11 April 2006. 
 

19. All of these enforcement notices were the subject of enforcement notice appeals that 
were duly dismissed with the result that, where not superseded by subsequent grants 
of planning permission as described previously in this report, their requirements to 
remedy the breaches of planning control variously addressed remain extant and 
continue to give rise to criminal offences where not complied with. 
 
Background – April 2006 Injunction 

20. The order made by Mr Justice Mitting on 6 April 2006 colloquially refers to two 
discrete tracts of the wider Smithy Fen area as the ‘Northern Area’, and the ‘Southern 
Area’ respectively; all the pitches subject to this report lie within the latter area, 
accessed from Orchard Drive and Water Lane.  
 

21. At the time of its making, and in the light of the then rapidly evolving and increasingly 
complex planning, enforcement, and related litigation history affecting Smithy Fen 
generally as a result of a large number of unauthorised developments then occurring 
(and anticipated), the Council adopted through necessity a policy of underpinning 
regular planning controls with the mechanism of the planning injunction, sometimes 
on a pre-emptory basis so as to robustly deter breaches that might be in 
contemplation. 
 

22. In respect of the pitches discussed in this report, and the interested individuals then 
named as Defendants to the proceedings resulting in the 2006 Injunction, it is clear 
from the witness statement of the then Deputy Planning Director of the Council, as 
filed in support, that although there were current and continuing breaches of 
development control represented by unauthorised residential occupations (as 
described at paragraphs 15 to 18 above), the relief being sought was not then 
focused upon evicting occupants without planning permission. Rather, the purpose of 
the proceedings was to prevent further unauthorised encroachments occurring whilst 
existing avenues of application, appeal and statutory challenge as then in train, or 
about to be, were seen through to conclusion. 
 

23. A copy of the order of 6 April 2006 is appended to this report as Appendix 3. 
Members will see the proviso to the Injunction set out at paragraph 4a that tolerates 
certain development on certain pitches for the benefit of specific named Defendants, 
included for the reasons described at paragraph 22 above. 
 
Background – January 2015 Injunction 

24. Where the pitches at 5, 5a, and 6 Orchard Drive had been vacated as described at 
paragraph 8 above, and where their removal from the scope of the May 2014 appeal 
effectively rendered their planning status final in having no lawful basis for any 
resumed residential occupation, officers considered there was a necessity to 
separately address the residual tolerations of the 2006 order so far as they related to 
these three vacant pitches. Not least in informing this perceived necessity, was an 
identified risk of these pitches being brought back into unauthorised occupation 
without warning whilst enquiries were properly made into the personal circumstances 
of those who unlawfully remained in occupation elsewhere within the protected areas. 
  

Page 104



25. Accordingly, and after consultation with lead members, application was duly made to 
the Court in the New Year seeking to vary the 2006 order so as to remove the 
continuing tolerations in that order that related to these pitches only. The simple aim 
of this application was to complete the legal protection against these most vulnerable 
pitches being unlawfully redeveloped. As the whereabouts of the last occupiers was 
not known, and as no prejudice arose due to their not having been in active 
occupation since before the May 2014 appeal, this application was made without 
notice. 
 

26. On 16 January 2015, Mr Justice King granted an Injunction order amending the 2006 
order so as to remove the tolerations benefiting Michael O’Brien, Margaret O’Brien, 
and Nora O’Brien in respect of the pitches at 5, 5a and 6 Orchard Drive respectively. 
Those pitches may not now be brought back into unauthorised residential occupation 
without a contempt of court arising. A copy of the January 2015 Injunction is 
appended to this report as Appendix 4.     
 
Regularisation with planning permissions - next steps 

27. Given that the various avenues of planning application, appeal and statutory 
challenge then contemplated have now been exhausted or legally expired, and have 
crystallised in the outcomes described at paragraphs 7 to 26 above, it is considered 
appropriate that the terms and tolerations of the 2006 Injunction are revisited as 
described in this report. This is to ensure the continuing protections the Injunction 
affords in the public interest properly reflect the current planning permissions and 
extant enforcement notices attaching to the pitches under consideration, decided 
after detailed and transparent testing of relevant material considerations since the 
order was granted. 
 

28. The variation application now recommended to committee will also enable the 2006 
order to be refreshed to reflect, require, and secure with certainty the regularisation 
necessary at 11 Orchard Drive, where unauthorised development represented by the 
continued siting and residential occupation of caravans continues despite planning 
avenues to permit such use having been exhausted.                          
 
11 Orchard Drive – consideration of personal circumstances 

29. Of the pitches potentially affected by the recommendations to this report, 11 Orchard 
Drive requires especial consideration as it is subject to continuing residential 
occupation that approval of the recommendations at paragraph 5(a) and 5(d) will 
result in being brought to an end, if the proceedings suggested by it succeed. 
 

30. 11 Orchard Drive presently sites one mobile home, a touring caravan, and a portable 
utility cabin. These together afford residential accommodation for Kathleen O’Brien 
and three dependent children. Michael Hegarty, a former resident partner of Ms 
O’Brien and the only person expressly tolerated to be in occupation of this pitch under 
the 2006 order (with one touring caravan and one day room only), no longer lives at 
the pitch – see the May 2014 appeal decision at Appendix 1 (paragraph 48). It has 
previously been suggested that Ms O’Brien and her children should benefit from the 
toleration currently enjoyed by Mr Hegarty in view of her past association with him.    
 

31. Notwithstanding that the personal circumstances of the occupiers of 11 Orchard Drive 
were considered during the hearing of the May 2014 appeal, during the hearing of the 
June 2008 appeal, and also during the appeal against the 2005 enforcement notice, 
which were all dismissed, it is necessary for committee to now consider occupants’ 
personal circumstances afresh in deciding whether anything in those circumstances 
today outweighs the public interest in exerting due planning control by the means that 
are now recommended. 

Page 105



 
32. Where Ms O’Brien has the benefit of legal representation in connection with this 

matter, her advisors have compiled information that updates the personal 
circumstances that were before the Inspector at the May 2014 appeal. Given this 
contains material concerning health and schooling matters, this information is 
appended for committee members (but not for wider publication) in exempt Appendix 
5 to this report. 
 

33. Committee will note that, relying on the authority of Supreme Court case ZH 
(Tanzania) v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2011] UKSC 4, Ms 
O’Brien’s advisors assert that the best interests of the children potentially affected by 
the decisions being sought be this report must be a primary consideration. As it may 
assist members in their deliberations, a full transcript of this judgment is appended to 
this report as Appendix 6. 
 

34. The remedy of injunctive relief pursuant to Section 187B of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 is a discretionary one. This means the Court will have to be 
satisfied that the Council as claimant should be granted the remedy on the facts as 
apply, balancing the interests of the Local Planning Authority (and the public interest 
by extension) against the personal circumstances of, and any other material 
considerations advanced by, the plot owners and/or occupiers as defendants. The 
remedy of an injunction will not lightly be granted where breach of any that is ordered 
will represent a contempt of court for which committal to prison is a possible sanction 
and where compliance will displace individuals from homes that have now been 
occupied for several years. 
 

35. In seeking an injunction to bear against the occupied pitch especially, the Council will 
need to demonstrate that a breach of development control endures and that the 
public interest in remedying this outweighs considerations analysed under the 
following themes, considered in turn below, some of which are particularly engaged 
due to the potential defendants being Gypsies or Travellers: 
 

• Health (including any disability impact)  
• Educational needs of children 
• Race impact 
• Availability of alternative sites 
• Homelessness (including aversion to bricks and mortar, and potential 

exceptional storage need for chattels) 
 

36. Members will see and need to consider that certain occupants do present a variety of 
personal health needs, all stated as requiring treatment or other support that is 
presently provided locally. 
 

37. The committee has been provided with education information that describes the 
position in respect of the three children as reside at 11 Orchard Drive. An update has 
also been requested from the Education Authority that will be reported verbally at the 
meeting if any material changes or additional facts are disclosed. 
 

38. Councillors will note and need to consider the extent to which educational 
arrangements may be disturbed or disrupted at least to some extent by a successful 
injunction application if children are enrolled with and noted as satisfactorily attending 
local educational establishments. 

 
39. Although the Court of Appeal and other authorities have held that a separate race 

impact assessment is not necessary to be undertaken by the Council in order to 

Page 106



discharge its duties under equalities legislation as long as such matters as would 
inform such assessment are addressed in substance, it is nonetheless prudent to 
remind members that in discharging its remit as Local Planning Authority (i.e. where 
contemplating enforcement proceedings), the Council does need to have due regard 
to the need to eliminate unlawful racial discrimination and/or to promote equality of 
opportunity and good relations between persons of different racial groups when 
making decisions. 
 

40. In the circumstances here, it may be suggested that the Gypsy/Traveller status of the 
prospective defendants is likely to result in an inequality of opportunity to access 
authorised sites for their housing needs when compared with the wider community 
generally, as has been recognised by the historic acceptance by the Council that 
additional Gypsy and Traveller site provision is necessary locally and regionally. 
 

41. The Council recognises that Gypsies and Travellers suffer amongst the worst health 
and education status of any disadvantaged group in England and there is, 
accordingly, a pressing need to promote equality of opportunity in these areas 
between Gypsies/Travellers and the general settled community to address this 
inequality. The Council also recognises, however, that this aim is supported by 
reducing the number of unauthorised developments, balanced by approvals being 
granted for sites in appropriate locations. The Council does have a track record of 
granting permanent and temporary consents when suitable sites are promoted, and 
consents have been won at appeal albeit, recently, in the acknowledged context of 
weaknesses identified by Inspectors as affecting the currently applicable Gypsy and 
Traveller Needs Assessment available to the authority. 
 

42. Countervailing factors are the need to protect the countryside from development that 
impacts adversely on the area and cannot be assimilated into its surroundings, and 
also the imperative of upholding planning control in the wider public interest. This 
latter consideration may also be thought relevant from an equalities perspective in 
circumstances where the settled community can and sometimes do perceive unequal 
treatment if planning controls are selectively (dis)applied; whereas, conversely, their 
strict application could result in an otherwise locally established family being forced 
back onto the roadside. 
 

43. Ultimately, the balance to be struck between and the weight to be afforded these 
competing considerations (and any others identified by members) is a matter for the 
committee, provided the duty described at paragraph 39 is discharged.  
 

44. In respect of alternative sites that might be accessed by those at risk of being 
displaced if the recommendations now made are approved, the background papers 
cited as informing this report clearly demonstrate the lengths the Council has gone to 
over recent years to identify and promote alternatives to the continued occupation of 
unauthorised pitches within the areas protected by the 2006 order. At the date of 
publishing this report, 11 Orchard Drive remains the site of the only significant 
subsisting breach of development control within these areas, and one in respect of 
which it must now be regrettably concluded there is no realistic prospect either of 
regularisation occurring by future planning approval being secured or by voluntary 
compliance with the extant enforcement notice. 
 

45. In discussions prior to the preparation of this report, those advising Ms O’Brien were 
specifically canvassed as to whether allowing further time for compliance would be of 
assistance and, if so, how long might be needed to avoid the requirement for 
contested proceedings being brought. In the event, and save for the information 
provided in Appendix 5, no engagement on this point has occurred and the Council 

Page 107



accordingly seems to be faced with having now to decide whether to finally enforce 
due planning control or look away whilst planning law is disregarded.   
 

46. Although the proceedings contemplated by this report would be conducted by the 
Council in its statutory capacity as Local Planning Authority, members should be 
aware that the Council might need to react in another statutory capacity, as Housing 
Authority in the event individuals are displaced and present as being homeless as a 
consequence. 
 

47. If such approaches are made, and assistance in meeting housing needs are sought, 
there may be challenges to address arising from the Gypsy or Traveller status of 
those likely to be seeking that assistance. 
 

48. Whilst housing eligibility and needs fall to be assessed in the same manner as for any 
applicant, it may be necessary for any interim accommodation offered to be 
exceptionally accompanied by assistance in safely storing large chattels such as 
caravans or mobile homes. A duty to furnish such assistance, at least in the short 
term, may arise even if any interim accommodation offered is not accepted. 
 

49. In addition to possessions of this nature, further specialist assistance may have to be 
offered for those applicants who present as own and wish to retain animals 
associated with their traditional lifestyle. Ponies are perhaps the most usual example 
of this but not necessarily exclusive to other animals that may well also be owned. 
 

50. Experience of administering housing applications from displaced Gypsies or 
Travellers indicates that the storage of large chattels and/or the accommodation of 
animals can prove a limiting factor in respect of the suitability of any housing that may 
ultimately be offered in the event eligibility is established. If housing with sufficient 
space to store a mobile home or caravan, or appropriate for the keeping of animals is 
even identified as being available, it may well be the case that such is not located 
reasonably local to family, schools, or health infrastructure as has previously been 
relied upon. 
 

51. Similarly, it is acknowledged that Gypsies and Travellers may well suffer a deep 
aversion to being accommodated in bricks and mortar housing. Although Housing 
Authorities are required to be mindful of this and the potential health consequences 
that might arise, it is settled that there is no duty to provide or facilitate caravan or 
mobile home based accommodation (whether from existing housing stock or by 
dedicated acquisition), provided regard is had to the likely availability of alternative 
accommodation in making any decision to enforce planning controls by requiring the 
cessation of residential occupation. 
 

52. Whilst it is clear that the special circumstances of Gypsies and Travellers, as a 
minority with a traditional lifestyle different from the majority in society, mean that 
consideration must be given to those circumstances before making decisions that 
impact that way of life, there can be a legitimate, proportionate and balancing aim to 
uphold planning controls in the interests of society as a whole. This balance is 
considered to be reflected in the recommendations made by this report. 

 
Options 

53. As an alternative to the course recommended, members could resolve not to seek 
any amendment of the 2006 order at all, or prefer only such amendment as does not 
potentially interfere with the current use and occupation of 11 Orchard Drive. 
 

Page 108



54. The former alternative does not commend itself where the Injunction contained in the 
2006 order, as varied in January of this year, would otherwise be out of kilter with the 
planning permissions that have now been both granted and refused in respect of 
pitches lying in the Southern Area contemplated by it. This can only perpetuate 
uncertainty for all stakeholders, particularly including those who have now secured 
and rely on planning permissions to occupy pitches in a manner that gives rise to a 
technical contempt of court (i.e. where contrary to the express controls of the 2006 
order), and those who might consequently choose to query the legitimacy of that 
occupation. 
 

55. The latter alternative, regardless of any other variation sought, would effectively be 
tantamount to the Local Planning Authority condoning the continuing commission of a 
criminal offence (i.e. the ongoing breach of the 2005 enforcement notice) represented 
by unauthorised development maintained in the face of serial refusals of consent that 
have confirmed the existence of planning harm that outweighs personal need. Again, 
it is suggested this course has nothing to commend it and cannot be viewed as being 
in the public interest.     
 
Implications 

56. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, the following implications have been considered:- 
 
Financial 

57. The recommendations of this report, if approved, will result in legal costs being 
incurred that might, if proceedings are successfully defended, include those of 
defendants. It is considered the amounts at issue will be contained within existing 
budgetary provision however, regardless of outcome. 

 
 Legal 
58. The recommendations of this report, if approved, will result in the Council 

commencing and pursuing legal proceedings against third parties under statutory 
powers.  

 
 Equality and Diversity 
59. Equalities issues are engaged by this report and are as analysed in the main body. 
 

Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 
60. The report is informed by and appends information concerning the personal 

circumstances of the occupiers of 11 Orchard Drive, as provided by legal advisors for 
those affected. 

 
Effect on Strategic Aims 

61. The recommendations of this report are consistent with and support the statutory 
purposes of the Council acting corporately as Local Planning Authority. 

 
 
Background Papers 
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection: -  
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;  
(b) on the Council’s website; and  

Page 109



(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 
payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  

 
In addition to the appendices to this report, the following previous committee reports, 
associated minutes, and other documents as listed have informed the recommendations now 
made: 
 
Planning Enforcement Sub-Committee, 21 July 2010, Agenda item 6  
Planning Enforcement Sub-Committee, 17 November 2010, Agenda item 4 
Planning Enforcement Sub-Committee, 16 March 2011, Agenda item 4 
Delegation Report for planning refusal S/0041/12/FL, 18 July 2012 
  
Report Author:  Gary Duthie – Senior Lawyer 

Telephone: (01954) 713022 

Page 110



Appendix 1

Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Appendix 2

Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134

This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 3

Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142

This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 4

Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 148

This page is left blank intentionally.



Page 149

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 152

This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 6

Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	4 S/1344/14/FL - Great Eversden (Site known as OSP, 148 Church Street)
	Appendix A - Statement from Local Councillor
	Appendix B - Letter from Housing Portfolio Holder, SCDC
	Application file
	Site plan - Great Eversden

	5 S/2216/14/FL - Steeple Morden (48 Station Road)
	Application file
	Site plan - Steeple Morden

	6 S/2046/14/FL - Gamlingay (Land at 12 Potton Road)
	Application file
	Site plan - Gamlingay

	7 S/1504/13/FL - Caxton (Ermine Street)
	Application file
	Site plan - Caxton

	8 S/2186/14/FL  - Caldecote (115 Highfields Road)
	Application file
	Site plan - Caldecote

	9 S/2646/14/FL - Girton (65 Cambridge Road)
	Application file
	Site plan - Girton

	10 S/3038/14/FL - Great Abington (23 South Road)
	Application file
	Site plan - Great Abington

	11 S/2268/14/PO West Wratting (Camgrain)
	Application file
	Site plan - Balsham

	12 Changes to Planning Obligations for Smaller Residential Developments
	13 Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action
	14 Enforcement Report
	15 Smithy Fen Cottenham (5 to 11 Orchard Drive and 14 to 18 Water Lane) -  Proposed Variation of 2006 Injunction in Light of May 2014 Appeal Outcome (App/W0530/A/12/2181439 arising from Refusal S/0041/12/Ful)
	Appendix 1 - Appeal Decision 18 March 2014
	Appendix 2 - Appeal Decision 11 March 2008
	Appendix 3 - Judgment 6 April 2006
	Appendix 4 - Injunction Order 15 January 2015
	Appendix 5 - Letter from SouthWestLaw
	Appendix 5 - Attachments
	Appendix 6 - Judgment 1 February 2011


